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Five-year Financial Summary

RESULTS

Year ended 31 March
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
(Restated) (Restated)

 

Revenue 25.2 0.2 13.3 18.0 24.7
 

(Loss)/profit before taxation (66.1) (52.4) (230.0) (265.3) (1,419.6)
Tax credits/(expenses) 2.3 (0.0) (3.2) (2.5) (13.4)

 

(Loss)/profit for the year (63.8) (52.4) (233.2) (267.8) (1,433.0)
Other comprehensive 
 income/(expense) 12.3 (11.1) (34.0) 58.9 (109.1)

 

Total comprehensive 
 expense for the year (51.5) (63.6) (267.2) (208.9) (1,542.1)

 

Loss for the year 
 attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (60.1) (52.4) (233.2) (307.6) (1,433.0)
 Non-controlling interests (3.7) – – – –

 

(63.8) (52.4) (233.2) (267.8) (1,433.0)
 

Total comprehensive 
 expense for the year 
 attributable to:
 Owners of the Company (50.5) (63.6) (267.2) (208.9) (1,542.1)
 Non-controlling interests (1.0) – – – –

 

(51.5) (63.6) (267.2) (208.9) (1,542.1)
 

Dividend per share (HK cents) – – – – –
 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
(Restated) (Restated)

 

Total assets 292.9 280.5 416.3 757.3 813.0
Total liabilities (69.8) (46.8) (119.6) (195.5) (45.4)

 

Equity attributable to 
 owners of the Company 183.8 233.7 296.7 561.8 767.6

 

Net asset value per share 
 (HK cents) 8.1 8.5 10.7 20.3 27.8

 



Goldbond Group Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2020/214

Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group is principally engaged in the business of (i) the provision of 
property technology services; and (ii) the provision of financial services business including financing and finance 
lease services, factoring services and operating lease services.

On 25 June 2019, the former auditor of the Company issued a letter to the Audit Committee, in which the former 
auditor requested the Audit Committee to undertake an investigation (the “Investigation”) in respect of the 
trading transactions in chemical products by a former subsidiary of the Company involving an aggregate overdue 
account receivables for the Group in the amount of approximately RMB57,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$65,000,000).

On 18 July 2019, an independent firm (the “Independent Firm”) was engaged to conduct the Investigation. The 
Independent Firm issued a first report on the Investigation (the “Investigation Report”) to the Audit Committee on 
31 January 2020. The Audit Committee engaged the Independent Firm to conduct certain extended procedures 
relevant to the Investigation on 19 March 2020 (the “Supplemental Investigation”) and the Independent 
Firm issued a final report on the Supplemental Investigation (the “Supplemental Investigation Report”) on 4 
September 2020 to the Audit Committee. Details of the key findings of the Investigation Report and Supplemental 
Investigation Report are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 31 January 2020 and 4 September 
2020, respectively.

The business of the Group for the Year has been adversely affected by various factors including (i) the focus 
on the conduct of the Investigation and relevant restructuring and reform works; and (ii) the outbreak of the 
COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020 which caused certain disruption to the Group’s business in the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Nevertheless, the operation of the Group gradually resumed to normal since the second quarter of 2020, in 
particular, with the completion of the Investigation and the COVID-19 pandemic gradually coming under control 
in Hong Kong and the PRC. In addition, the Company strives to grow its core business and explore different 
opportunities through a series of initiatives, including the formation of new subsidiary to explore the market in 
property technology, and the acquisition of Optimus Financial Group Limited which is engaged in the business of 
financial lease and operating lease in the PRC.

With all the effort, the Group recorded a substantial increase in revenue and operating scale as compared with 
last year, indicating that our reform is on the right track.

Core business

Property technology services

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 June 2020, in April 2020, the Group has formed 
a subsidiary in Shenzhen, the PRC (the “SZ Subsidiary”) with a local non-controlling shareholder (the “Local 
Partner”). The SZ Subsidiary is engaged in the provision of property technology services (the “Proptech 
Business”), which uses and integrates software (e.g. programs and algorithms), hardware (e.g. internet-connected 
sensors and devices) and data to help individuals, landlords and property managers better manage and optimise 
the usage of their real estate, which is expected to capture the growing demand for property technology services 
in the PRC. The SZ Subsidiary is operated by the Group and the Local Partner where the Group contributes 
its development resources and business network while the Local Partner contributes its technology and brand 
resources, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the provision of property technology segment realised a revenue of 
approximately HK$15.6 million and the segment loss is approximately HK$8.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial service business – Operating lease

The Group’s operating lease business is mainly conducted through Optimus and Huzhou Goldbond Car Leasing 
Services Company Limited (湖州金寓宏汽車租賃服務有限公司) (“Huzhou Goldbond”), a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company, and its subsidiaries.

The Group established its first business of car operating lease in Huzhou, the PRC in March 2020, and in view 
of the strong momentum of such business, the Group has subsequently set up and expanded its operating lease 
business into new strategic locations in the PRC, including Ningbo (in May 2020), Shaoxing (in May 2020), 
Changsha (in August 2020), Jiaxing (in September 2020), Foshan (in October 2020), and an additional new 
location also in Huzhou (in October 2020).

In respect of the car operating lease business, the Group (being the lessor) delivers vehicles to the end users 
(being the lessee) who will in return make periodic lease payments to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the operating lease segment realised a revenue of approximately HK$7.1 
million and the segment profit is approximately HK$1.3 million.

Financial service business – Financing and finance lease

As disclosed in the section headed “Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associated companies or 
joint ventures” below, during the Year, the Group acquired 51% of the total issued capital of Optimus Financial 
Group Limited (“Optimus”), which is engaged in the business of provision of finance lease and operating lease in 
the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the finance service segment which comprised finance lease and other 
financial products, realised a revenue of approximately HK$2.2 million (2020: approximately HK$0.1 million) and 
the segment profit is approximately HK$1.1 million (2020: loss of approximately HK$7.8 million).

Financial services business – Factoring

The Group’s factoring business is conducted through Optimus and Jiangsu Goldbond Factoring Co., Ltd, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Group provides customers with funds secured by, amongst others, their accounts receivable, and offers 
them accounts receivable management services, which include review of documents relating to the accounts 
receivable, collection of the accounts receivable, and reports regularly to customers on matters concerning their 
accounts receivable. In return, the Group receives interest income as well as professional fees for the services 
rendered.

Before granting loans to potential customers, the Group assesses the potential borrower’s credit quality and/
or receivables’ quality and defines the credit limits granted to the borrowers. The credit limits attributed to the 
borrowers are reviewed by the management regularly.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded a revenue of HK$0.2 million from factoring service 
segment (2020: approximately HK$54,000). The segment loss decreased from approximately HK$2.3 million in 
2020 to a loss of approximately HK$1.8 million in 2021.

The overall results of the financial service segment improved significantly from a loss of approximately HK$10.1 
million in 2020 to a profit of approximately HK$0.7 million for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Investments

Interest in an associate: 34.86% of China Rongzhong

China Rongzhong and its subsidiaries (“China Rongzhong Group”), is primarily engaged in finance leasing 
business through Rongzhong International Financial Leasing Co., Ltd., which provides finance lease services to 
customers in Hubei Province, the PRC.

In relation to the results of China Rongzhong for the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognized a 
share of loss and other comprehensive expense of HK$31.6 million and HK$1.1 million, respectively during 
the year. The Group has no capital commitment to China Rongzhong as at 31 March 2021. Share of loss and 
other comprehensive expense of China Rongzhong of HK$10.7 million and HK$0.4 million respectively was not 
recognised by the Group as such loss exceeds its interest in the associate.

China Rongzhong suffered from a high level of impairment allowances on loan receivable and lease receivables 
and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements, amount for HK$1.1 million and HK$97.0 million 
respectively, which resulted in significant loss for the years ended 31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the 
carrying amount of the Group’s interest in China Rongzhong was nil.

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK
With the gradual administration of vaccines to the general population, the COVID-19 pandemic is coming under 
control in many countries, and the worldwide economy is recovering gradually. Despite the short-term economic 
downturn resulting from, inter alia, the COVID-19 pandemic, the Directors are optimistic about the economic 
development of the PRC in the long run and consider that the demands for property technology services and 
financial service in the PRC will remain strong and sustainable. During the year, the Group has expanded its 
business through a series of initiatives as mentioned above, which are expected to bring significant contribution 
to the Group in a long run. 

In addition, the loss for the Year was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in the professional fees (including 
but not limited to the fees to the IC Constant, legal advisors, financial advisors, market research and consulting 
firm and forensic investigation firm) in relation to the Investigation, resumption and business restructuring which 
are one-off in nature and are not directly related to our operating activities; (ii) the increase in share of loss in 
associates which is non-cash in nature, not directly related to our core business operating activities and and has 
no effect on the cash flow of the Group; (iii) the increase in staff costs (with number of staff increasing from 25 
as at 31 March 2020 to 117 as at 31 March 2021) resulting from the commencement of the Proptech Business 
and expansion of the business of financial services.

The business of the Group is on the right track after a series of initiatives having been taken. In particular, our 
Proptech Business has successfully entered into sale contracts with a number of customers. As the Proptech 
Business is a technology-based model through the provision of IoT smart property solutions, the fixed costs of 
the Proptech Business (including staff costs) will not increase as much as the increase in revenue. Accordingly, 
the Proptech Business will benefit from the scale of economy with increasing revenue and is expected to bring 
significant contribution to the Group. Furthermore, the financial services business has resumed normal since 
the second quarter of 2020 and is recording a growing trend. It is expected that the existing businesses of the 
Group will register further and strong revenue growth for the year ending 31 March 2022. Looking forward, 
with the larger business scale and lessor professional fees, it is expected that the profitability of the Group will 
substantially improve for the year ending 31 March 2022.

Despite the hardship in the past two years, the controlling shareholder if the Company is always committed to 
support the business of the Group and the financial position of the Group remained very healthy as the Group 
did not have any loan and borrowing as at 31 March 2021. The Group will continue to strengthen its competitive 
strengths in its core businesses, i.e. property technology services, finance lease and commencement of new 
business of operating lease, and continue its business strategy of building an asset portfolio with a good balance 
of recurring income streams and growth opportunities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overall revenue

The Group realised revenue for the Year of approximately HK$23.0 million, representing an increase of 
approximately HK$22.9 million as compared to the previous financial year. The increase was due to the 
change in operation strategy and provision of operating lease services and property technology services which 
contributed to the Group a new source of income during the Year.

Revenue – property technology services

The Group realised a new source of revenue from property technology services in Hong Kong and the PRC for 
the Year of approximately HK$15.6 million.

Revenue – financial services

The Group realised another new source of revenue from operating lease services in the PRC for the Year of 
approximately HK$7.1 million.

The Group also realised revenue from finance lease and financial services for the Year of approximately HK$0.2 
million, representing an increase of approximately HK$0.19 million as compared to last year. The increase was 
mainly contributed from finance lease and financing services in the PRC during the Year.

Interest revenue – finance lease

The Group realised interest revenue from new finance lease in the PRC for the Year of approximately HK$1.7 
million.

Interest revenue – financing and factoring services

The Group realised interest revenue from financing and factoring services for the Year of approximately HK$0.5 
million, representing an increase of approximately HK$0.44 million as compared to last year. The increase was 
mainly contributed by interest income from small loan financing in Hong Kong during the Year.

Staff costs

Staff costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$24.5 million, which increased by approximately HK$12.4 
million or 103.0% compared to last year. Such increase was mainly attributable to the increase in number of 
headcount resulting from the commencement of the Proptech Business and expansion of the business of financial 
services during the Year.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses were approximately HK$31.2 million, which increased by approximately HK$14.4 
million or 85.7% as compared to last year. The increase was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in the 
professional fees (including but not limited to the fees to the IC Constant, legal advisors, financial advisors, 
market research and consulting firm and forensic investigation firm) in relation to the Investigation, resumption 
and business restructuring which are one-off in nature and are not directly related to our operating activities; (ii) 
the increase in research and development fees on the new property technology services; and (iii) the increase in 
staff costs (with number of staff increasing from 25 as at 31 March 2020 to 117 as at 31 March 2021) resulting 
from the commencement of the Proptech Business and expansion of the business of financial services.
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Share of loss of associates

Share of loss of associates mainly composed of the share of loss of China Rongzhong of approximately 
HK$31.6 million (2020: loss of approximately HK$22.9 million) and the share of profit of the Fund Manager of 
approximately HK$1.3 million (2020: profit of approximately HK$1.0 million), offset by the share of loss of the 
Fund of approximately HK$0.7 million (2020: approximately HK$0.8 million).

The share of loss of associates is non-cash in nature, not directly related to our core business operating activities 
and has no effect on the cash flow of the Group.

Loss for the Year attributable to the owners of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, loss for the Year attributable to the owners of the Company was approximately 
HK$60.0 million (2020: approximately HK$52.4 million).

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the Year

Other comprehensive income for the Year represented exchange differences arising on translation to presentation 
currency of approximately HK$12.3 million (2020: expense of approximately HK$11.1 million).

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The Group always seeks to maintain a healthy liquid position and retain sufficient capital for business 
development. The Group generally finances its operations through its internal resources. As at 31 March 2021, 
the aggregate sum of cash, bank balances and short term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$70.5 
million (31 March 2020: approximately HK$163.2 million) and there was no bank borrowing (31 March 2020: 
nil). The working capital (current assets less current liabilities) and the total equity attributable to owners of the 
Group were approximately HK$109.9 million (31 March 2020: approximately HK$147.6 million) and approximately 
HK$183.8 million (31 March 2020: approximately HK$233.7 million) respectively. No gearing ratio was calculated 
as the Group had no debt as at 31 March 2021. 

Key Financial Ratio – Net asset value per share

2021 2020

Net asset value per share (HK cents) 8.1 8.5

The decrease in the net asset value per share in the Year was mainly attributable to the share of loss of China 
Rongzhong.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group reports its operating result in Hong Kong dollar but major operations of the Group are carried out in 
the PRC, transacted and recorded in RMB with some monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other foreign 
currencies. The Group is, thus, exposed to the fluctuation in exchange rates between RMB, Hong Kong dollar 
and other currencies. On the other hand, our cash and cash equivalents are primarily in RMB and Hong Kong 
Dollars. During the Year, the Group has not entered into any hedging or other instrument to reduce currency 
risks. The management will closely monitor the Group’s exposure to the fluctuation of exchange rates and take 
appropriate measures as necessary to minimise any adverse impact that may be caused by such fluctuation.

Charges on group assets

As at 31 March 2021, there was no charge on the Group’s assets (2020:Nil).
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Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2021, there was no contingent liability (2020: Nil).

Future plans for material investments

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 
31 March 2021.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint ventures 

Acquisition of Optimus Financial Group Limited 

On 26 June 2020, Goldbond Investment Group Limited (“Goldbond Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company, entered into the sale and purchase agreement with the Quan Tai Limited (“Quan Tai”), pursuant to 
which Goldbond Investment has agreed to purchase, and Quan Tai has agreed to sell, 17,110,500 issued shares 
of Optimus, representing 51% of the total issued share capital of the Target Company (the “Acquisition”). Optimus 
and its subsidiary are principally engaged in finance lease and operating lease in the PRC. The completion of the 
Acquisition took place on 30 June 2020. Upon completion of the Acquisition, Optimus and its subsidiaries have 
become non wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. The Acquisition constituted a discloseable transaction of 
the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. 

Further details of the Acquisition are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 26 June 2020.

Formation of a subsidiary 

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 June 2020, in April 2020, the Group has formed 
the SZ Subsidiary with the Local Partner. The SZ Subsidiary is engaged in the provision of property technology 
services, which uses and integrates software (e.g. programs and algorithms), hardware (e.g. internet-connected 
sensors and devices) and data to help individuals, landlords and property managers better manage and optimise 
the usage of their real estate, which is expected to capture the growing demand for property technology services 
in the PRC. The SZ Subsidiary shall be operated by the Group and the Local Partner where the Group shall 
contribute its development resources and business network while the Local Partner shall contribute its technology 
and brand resources, respectively. 

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, 
associated companies or joint ventures for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Subsequent events

Delisting Decision 

On 19 March 2021, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange stating that the Listing Committee 
of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Committee”) has decided that the Company has failed to fulfill Resumption 
Guidance 3 and Resumption Guidance 4 by the resumption deadline of 28 December 2020 and decided to cancel 
the Company’s listing under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules (the “Delisting Decision”). Details of the Delisting 
Decision are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 March 2021.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 March 2021, the Company has on 26 March 2021 
submitted a written request for the Delisting Decision be referred to the Listing Review Committee for review 
pursuant to Chapter 2B of the Listing Rules. The Listing Review Committee conducted a hearing on 10 June 
2021 in relation to the Review. On 20 July 2021, the Listing Review Committee notified the Company that it 
decided to uphold the decision of the Listing Committee to cancel the Company’s listing under Rule 6.01A of the 
Listing Rules.
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On 21 July 2021, the Stock Exchange issued a letter advising the Company that the last day of listing of the 
Shares will be on 30 July 2021 and the listing of the Shares will be cancelled with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 2 
August 2021.

Other events subsequent to 31 March 2021 are set out in note 46 to the audited consolidated financial 
statements in this report.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 117 (31 March 2020: 25) staff located in both Hong Kong and the PRC. The 
increase in the number of staff was due to the commencement of the Proptech and expansion of the business 
of financial services. The Group remunerates these employees based on their performance, experience and 
prevailing industry practices. Other benefits offered to these employees include medical insurance, retirement 
scheme and training subsidies. In addition, the Group has set up a share option scheme for the purpose of 
providing incentives to the eligible directors and employees.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established 
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The assets 
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group and administered by an independent trustee. 
Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are each required to make a contribution to the MPF 
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant monthly income subject to a cap, which is currently set at HK$1,500.

The employees employed by the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement benefit 
schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage 
of payroll cost to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with 
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make specified contributions.

Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of dividend for the Year (2020: nil).
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Information on Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles, aged 71, has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company with effect from 
21 June 2019. He has been an Executive Director of the Company since January 2003 and is responsible for 
the corporate strategic planning of the Group. He is the Chairman of the nomination committee of the Company 
(the “Nomination Committee”) and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration 
Committee”). Mr. Wong has over thirty years of worldwide experience in the procurement and logistics of 
consumer products. He is an international entrepreneur of repute and was the co-founder and President of 
Pacific Resources Export Limited (“PREL”). PREL was the exclusive worldwide sourcing agent for Wal-mart 
Stores and Sam’s Club for twelve years until 2002, with an annual turnover of US$6.5 billion. Throughout his 
years in operating PREL with 29 branch offices across the globe, (including the United States of America, South 
America, Central America, Indian Subcontinent, Middle East, Asia and Europe), Mr. Wong has accumulated 
valuable experience and profound knowledge in the manufacturing and sourcing industry, financial markets, and 
asset management business.

Mr. Wong is the father of Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee, an Executive Director.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Wong is also a director of Ace Solomon Investments Limited, Aceyork 
Investment Limited, Allied Golden Investment Limited and Allied Luck Trading Limited, all being companies which 
have interests in the shares of the Company which are all disclosed to the Company under the provisions of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“substantial shareholders’ discloseable interests”).

Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee, aged 40, has been an Executive Director since February 2007. She graduated from 
the University of Southern California, United States of America with a Bachelor of Arts in Political Science and 
holds a Juris Doctorate in Law from Whittier Law School, California, U.S.A. Ms. Wong is a member of each of the 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Ms. Wong is currently a non-executive director of China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited (a 
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3963).

Ms. Wong is the daughter of Mr. Wong, the Chairman of the Company and an Executive Director.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Wong is also a director of Ace Solomon Investments Limited, Aceyork 
Investment Limited, Allied Golden Investment Limited and Allied Luck Trading Limited, all being companies which 
have substantial shareholders’ discloseable interests.

Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David, aged 48, joined the Company as the chief executive officer of the Company in 
May 2019 and was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 7 April 2021. Mr. David Wong has over 
20 years of professional capital market, financial investment and asset management experience. Prior to joining 
the Company, he was a Senior Vice President at Franklin Templeton Darby Private Equity responsible for deal 
origination, execution and monitoring and involved in fundraising for regional growth capital funds with a primary 
focus on private credit and mezzanine financing in the Greater China and Southeast Asian region. Before that, he 
was an Equity Research Analyst in Citigroup Smith Barney’s Asia Pacific Consumer Research team, covering a 
portfolio of listed companies in Hong Kong, Taiwan, South Korea, Indonesia, Singapore and Malaysia. Previously, 
Mr. David Wong worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers focusing on banking and capital market assurance and 
business advisory services. He graduated from the University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Commerce degree 
majoring in Accounting & Finance and is also a Certified Public Accountant (AICPA, HKICPA), Chartered Global 
Management Accountant (AICPA) and Certified Management Accountant (IMA).

Mr. David Wong is currently a non-executive director of China Rongzhong, a company listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3963).
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Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP, aged 70, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director in February 2003. 
He is a member of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), Remuneration Committee and 
Nomination Committee. Mr. Ma is a partner of Woo Kwan Lee & Lo and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong 
Kong, England and Wales, Australian Capital Territory and the Republic of Singapore, and is a China-Appointed 
Attesting Officer. He is a Deputy to the National People’s Congress of the PRC, the Chairperson of the Travel 
Industry Authority, the Chairman of the Protection of Wages on Insolvency Fund Board and the President of the 
Association of China-Appointed Attesting Officers Limited. Mr. Ma was also appointed as a non-executive director 
of the Insurance Authority. In addition, he is currently an independent non-executive director of Asiaray Media 
Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1993).

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, aged 60, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director in November 
2007. He is also the Chairman of both the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member of the 
Nomination Committee. Mr. Cheng is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Professional Accountants of 
Canada. Mr. Cheng holds a Master of Science (Economics) degree in Accounting and Finance and a Bachelor of 
Arts (Honour) degree in Accounting. His career includes more than 20 years’ accounting and corporate advisory 
services expertise in several listed companies in Hong Kong. The co-founder of a Hong Kong merchant banking 
firm, Mr. Cheng is the proprietor of a certified public accountancy practice in Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (stock code: 43), Chia 
Tai Enterprises International Limited (stock code: 3839), Chong Hing Bank Limited (stock code: 1111), CPMC 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 906), CSI Properties Limited (stock code: 497), Kidsland International Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 2122), Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited (stock code: 194), Miricor Enterprises Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 1827), Somerley Capital Holdings Limited (stock code: 8439) and Top Spring International 
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3688), all being companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng was an 
independent non-executive director of C.P. Lotus Corporation, a company delisted from the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange on 28 October 2019, and HKC (Holdings) Limited, a company delisted from the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange on 8 June 2021. He was also an independent non-executive director of DTXS Silk Road 
Investment Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 620), a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange, from November 2015 to May 2020.

Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur, aged 40, joined the Company as an independent non-executive Director 
in September 2019. He is also a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Yeh joined Hammer Capital Asset 
Management Limited (“Hammer Capital”), a company licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission for 
Type 9 regulated activity (asset management). Mr. Yeh is currently a director and licensed representative of 
Hammer Capital and is responsible for managing funds on a discretionary basis with primary focus on structured 
finance solutions. Prior to joining Hammer Capital, Mr. Yeh worked at J.P. Morgan and Citicorp International 
Limited respectively where he was responsible for delivering corporate finance, capital markets and operating 
solutions to corporate clients. Mr. Yeh graduated from Amherst College with a Bachelor of Arts in Economics.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Ng Tik Tsun, aged 43, joined the Company as the chief financial officer of the Company in August 2019. Mr. 
Ng is responsible for overall corporate strategic development, operation and financial management as well as 
merger and acquisition transactions for the Company. Mr. Ng is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting and Finance from the De Montfort University, 
United Kingdom. Mr. Ng has over 18 years of experience in listed company corporate management, merger and 
acquisitions and initial public offerings, with experience in various industries including electric vehicle, start-up, 
container shipping and manufacturing businesses. Mr. Ng was a senior manager of Ernst & Young and held a 
senior management position in SITC International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 1308). Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ng served as the chief financial officer and company 
secretary of Apollo Future Mobility Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 860) 
and led various business acquisitions in the electric vehicle industry and negotiation with other strategic partners 
for on going business development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board is committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and procedures. The 
Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for effective 
management, a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth and enhancing shareholders’ value. 
The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls, and 
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and 
complied with all code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set 
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding securities 
transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they had 
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
– Composition of the Board

Executive Directors : Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles (Chairman)
Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee
Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David (Chief Executive Officer)  
(appointed as an executive Director with effect from 7 April 2021) 

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

: Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo
Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur

Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles is the father of Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee. Save as disclosed, there is no 
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material relationship) among members of the 
Board.

– Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group and be collectively responsible for 
promoting the success of the Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses 
on formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development plan and budget; monitoring 
financial and operating performance; reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control system; 
supervising and managing management’s performance of the Group; and setting the Group’s values and 
standards. The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Group 
to management. The delegated functions are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that they 
accommodate the needs of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
– Attendance at Board and General Meeting

During the Year, a total of six Board meetings were held and the attendance of each Director is set out as 
follows:

Name of Director during the Year 

Number of meetings 
attended/

held during the Year

Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles (Chairman) 6/6
Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee 6/6
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP 6/6
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 6/6
Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur 6/6

During the Year, the Company convened and held one shareholders’ general meeting, being the annual 
general meeting held on 28 December 2020 (the “2020 AGM”). All Directors attended the 2020 AGM to 
collect views of the shareholders of the Company and/or answer questions at the 2020 AGM.

– Continuing Professional Development

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh 
their knowledge and skills. The Company has continuously provided relevant materials to the Directors. 
Directors participated in courses or seminars or read relevant materials relating to roles, functions 
and duties of a listed company director or further enhancement of their professional development. The 
Directors are requested to provide the Company with their respective training record pursuant to the 
requirement of the CG Code on continuous professional development. During the Year, all Directors have 
participated in appropriate continuous professional development activities by way of attending training 
sessions, conferences and seminars or reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, directors’ 
duties and responsibilities, corporate governance and recent amendments to the Listing Rules.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 8 
April 2019. During the Year, there is segregation of duties between Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The 
segregation of duties ensures balance of power between the Board and the Group’s management as well as their 
independence and accountability.

The Chairman is the leader of the Board and he oversees the Board so that it acts in the best interests of 
the Group. The Chairman is responsible for deciding the agenda of each Board meeting, taking into account, 
where appropriate, matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has overall 
responsibility for providing leadership, vision and direction in the development of the business of the Company.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business of the Group, attends 
to formulation and successful implementation of policies, and assumes full accountability to the Board for all 
operations of the Group. Working with the Chairman and the executive management team of each core business 
division, he ensures smooth operations and development of the Group. He maintains continuing dialogue with the 
Chairman/Deputy Chairman and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all major business developments and 
issues. He is also responsible for building and maintaining an effective executive team to support him in his role.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term. The appointment of Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS 

JP and Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo as independent non-executive Directors was for a term of three years with effect from 
the date of their appointment. Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur was appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director for an initial term of two years, which will be renewable automatically by one year on the expiry of such 
initial term and can be terminated by either party by serving two months’ notice in writing.

The current articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) provide that at each annual general meeting, 
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three then the nearest number 
to but not less than one-third of the Directors, shall retire from office. A retiring Director shall be eligible for 
re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES
– Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheng 
Yuk Wo (Chairman) and Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur.

The chief responsibilities of the Audit Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditors and to approve the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of the resignation or dismissal of such 
auditors; reviewing the financial results of the Group; and supervising the financial reporting process and 
effectiveness of internal control system of the Group.

Eleven meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the Year. The following table sets out the 
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee at the meetings of the Audit Committee held during 
the Year:

Name of Director
Attendance/No. of Audit

 Committee meetings held

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP 4/4
Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur 4/4
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
– Audit Committee (continued)

The works performed by the Audit Committee during Year are as follows:

• reviewed the annual report and the annual results announcement of the Company for the year 
ended 31 March 2019;

• reviewed the interim report and the interim results announcement of the Company for the six 
months ended 30 September 2019;

• reviewed the annual report and the annual results announcement of the Company for the year 
ended 31 March 2020;

• reviewed the interim report and the interim results announcement of the Company for the six 
months ended 30 September 2020;

• considered and reviewed the key findings of the supplemental investigation (the “Investigation”) 
in respect of the trading transactions in chemical products by a subsidiary of the Company 
involving an aggregate overdue account receivables for the Group in the amount of approximately 
RMB57,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$65,000,000);

• considered and reviewed the key findings of the internal control review;

• making recommendations to the Board in light with the Investigation;

• reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and 
budget of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function;

• reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the Group; and

• reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function. 

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial results of the Group of the Year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
– Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. 
Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman) and Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yu 
Lung, Charles and Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee.

The change in the composition of the Remuneration Committee for the year ended 31 March 2021, and up 
to the publication of this annual report is set out below:

– With effect from 7 April 2021, Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee has been appointed as a member of the 
Remuneration Committee.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations on and 
approving the remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages of the Directors. The 
remuneration committee is also responsible for establishing formal and transparent procedures for 
developing such remuneration policy and structure.

No meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the Year.

– Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises two executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yu Lung, 
Charles (Chairman) and Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee, and two independent non-executive Directors, 
namely Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP and Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo.

The change in the composition of the Nomination Committee for the year ended 31 March 2021, and up to 
the publication of this annual report is set out below:

– With effect from 7 April 2021, Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee has been appointed as the member of the 
Nomination Committee.

The primary objectives of the Nomination Committee are to review the size, structure and composition of 
the Board, identify suitably qualified individual for appointment to the Board, assess the independence of 
independent non-executive Directors and to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or 
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

No meeting of the Nomination Committee was held and no new Director was appointed during the Year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
– Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is responsible for performing 
the corporate governance functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies, practices 
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional development of Directors, the Company’s 
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

The works performed by the Board in relation to corporate governance practice during the Year are as 
follows: –

• reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of Directors and 
senior management; and

• reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary. At least 14 days notice of regular Board 
meetings is given to all Directors and they can include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think 
fit. The agenda accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the date of 
every Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the Directors to review the documents.

Minutes of every meeting of the Board are circulated to all Directors for their perusal and comments prior 
to confirmation of the minutes. The Board also ensures that it is supplied in a timely manner with all 
necessary information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and services of the company secretary of the Company 
with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are followed and 
they are also entitled to have full access to Board papers and related materials so that they are able to 
make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The analysis of the auditor’s remuneration for the year is presented as follows:

Fee paid
HK$’000

Audit services 900
Non-audit services 240

The non-audit services provided by the auditor to the Group during the Year mainly include the review of interim 
results and continuing connected transactions of the Group.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
– Director’s Responsibilities in Respect of Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial statements for each financial 
period with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. The Company’s financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. 
The directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied 
consistently; and that the judgment and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing 
their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement 
or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is 
willing to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and 
effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Board at least annually conducts a review of the effectiveness of the Company and its subsidiaries’ internal 
control systems. Such review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls 
and risk management functions.

The Company takes the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and Futures 
Commission of Hong Kong as the Company’s basis of identification of inside information, to ensure the timely 
report of inside information to the executive Directors and maintain communication with the Board. Meanwhile, 
the Company handle and disseminate the inside information according to the related policy to ensure that the 
inside information is kept confidential before being approved for dissemination and the relevant information will 
be released effectively and conformably.

The Group is committed to maintaining and upholding a good internal control system. During the Year, the 
Company has an internal audit function by engaging an external consultants, Ernst & Young Advisory Services 
Limited, to review the internal control policies and procedures of the Company and the selected subsidiaries 
newly acquired or established by the Company. It has reported to the Audit Committee and the Board and made 
recommendations for improvement and strengthening of the internal control system. In respect of the reporting 
year, a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems have been conducted 
and the Board considered them effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern which might affect 
shareholders were identified.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary of the Company is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge 
of the Company’s affairs. The company secretary reports to the Chairman and is responsible for advising the 
Board on governance matters.

With effect from 23 April 2021, Ms. Li Fung Shan resigned as the company secretary of the Company and Mr. Ng 
Tik Tsun was appointed as the company secretary of the Company. During the year, Ms. Li Fung Shan has taken 
not less than 15 hours of the relevant professional training. The biography of the Company Secretary is set out 
on page 12 of this annual report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Company maintains a website at http://www.goldbondgroup.com where information and updates on the list 
of Directors and their roles and functions, constitutional documents, terms of reference of the Board committees, 
procedures for nomination of Directors for election, announcements, circulars and reports released to the Stock 
Exchange and other information are posted. Information on the Company’s designated website will be updated 
from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders to be our goal. On 31 December 
2018, the Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). According to the Dividend Policy, the 
declaration and payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board subject to all the 
applicable requirements under the Companies Ordinance and the Articles, and the Company’s ability to pay 
dividends will depend upon, among other things:

1. the Group’s current and future earnings;

2. the general financial condition of the Group;

3. the liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group;

4. dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will depend on the 
ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend; and

5. other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD
This is the fifth Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report by Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (the 
“Company”), highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as 
described in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are (i) provision of property 
technology services in China by Shenzhen Nengxiaotong Smart Technology Company Limited; and (ii) the 
provision of financial services business including financing and finance lease services, factoring services and 
car operating lease services by Shanghai Nanlang Finance Lease Company Limited and Huzhou Goldbond Car 
Leasing Services Company Limited in China.

This ESG report covers the Group’s overall environmental and social performances of the business operations 
of its offices in Hong Kong and China, from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period”), unless 
otherwise stated. Total floor area coverage for the Group was 2517.18 m2.

Operations that had no significant environmental and social impacts contributed were excluded from the reporting 
scope.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders as they bring potential impacts to the Group’s business. 
Shareholders, management and employees of the Group have been involved in annual general meetings, staff 
meetings, stakeholder surveys, daily email and telephone communications to share views regarding the Group’s 
operations and performances. The Group has specifically engaged internal stakeholders to gain further insights 
on ESG material aspects and challenges through stakeholder surveys in the Reporting Period. Through meetings 
and surveys, the Group and its stakeholders identified the following top five material aspects:

• Employment;

• Occupational health and safety;

• Development and training;

• Consumer data protection; and

• Customer service.

The Board and the management of the Company highly support, engage and concern for all the issues related 
to ESG through the management of the daily operation and take appropriate actions whenever applicable. ESG-
related risks are identified through the risk control procedures and the identified material aspects are strictly 
managed through the Group’s policies and guidelines. Management of the aspects have been described in 
separate sections below. Through the continuous improvements related to ESG issues, the Group has been 
reducing the potential risks that may derive from environmental, social and economic developments and to 
review the policies on a regular basis in order to enlarge the benefit of the stakeholders. The Group will continue 
to identify areas of improvement for the concerned aspects and keep close communication with its stakeholders 
to share and exchange ideas for advancing the Group’s ESG management.
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STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK
The Company welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and performance. Please give your 
suggestions or share your views with us via email at contact@goldbondgroup.com or telephone at 2111 5666.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE POLICY
At Goldbond Group Holdings Limited, ESG is viewed as a business philosophy that creates sustainable value 
for all our stakeholders including but not limited to shareholders, employees, business partners, customers, 
suppliers, Government bodies, community members. By embracing opportunities and managing risks derived 
from environmental, social, and economic developments, our ESG policy defines our long-term approach to 
specific issues in two cornerstones: Environmental and Social, which is instrumental in enabling our business 
to operate in a sustainable manner. The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of our business 
development and the communities in which we operate.

Environmental

We value the importance of environmental protection and the impact of the environment to the well-being of 
communities. The Group pursues the following initiatives on the environmental protection policy:

• To give due consideration to environmental issues in our corporate decision-making process and actively 
minimize the impact of our business operations on the environment.

• To continue to improve our environmental performance and comply with applicable environmental laws 
and standards.

• To reduce energy consumption and improve energy efficiency, conserve resources, use renewable or 
recyclable materials, minimize the use of paper and dispose of waste in an environmentally responsible 
manner.

• To raise staff awareness of environmental issues through education and training and by posting the Go 
Green Initiatives in the common drive for all staff.

Social

We consider our staff as valuable wealth of the Group and the foundation for the development of the Group. 
We also believe in giving back to the communities in which we operate. The following are our policy on social 
aspects:

• To foster a supportive and quality working environment by upholding employment practices that treat our 
staff fairly and equally.

• To safeguard the rights and interests of our staff with strict compliance with the applicable laws and will 
never harm their interests.

• To provide our staff opportunities for training and development.

• To ensure a healthy and safe workplace and facilitate meaningful communication within the Group.

• To maintain a high standard of integrity, transparency and accountability in our operations, improving our 
services based on evolving market demands, and promoting sustainable development to our stakeholders.

• To support local initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits to the community through corporate 
philanthropy and mobilizing our staff to participate in volunteer work.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE POLICY (CONTINUED)
Social (continued)

This Policy shall be communicated to the Group’s stakeholders, including but not limited to its employees, 
shareholders, suppliers, business partners and customers, and made available to the public, in particular the 
investing public.

The Group is committed to the continual development of this Policy and its integration into the Group’s operations 
and will review this Policy on a regular basis.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL
A1 Emissions

Governance on Air and Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

Environmental protection has always been one of the fundamental values of the Group. In 
the course of achieving the Group’s business objectives and maximising value creation for 
its stakeholders, the Group strives to achieve a balance between its operation needs and the 
environment by using resources wisely and minimising pollutants from its business operation. The 
Group recognises its responsibility to contribute towards environmentally sustainable development 
as reflected by its policy statement:

• Towards full compliance with environmental legislation and other applicable regulations.

• Environmentally clean and use energy efficiently.

• Prevent pollution by applying effective waste management and environmental friendly work 
practice.

The Group has also formulated related environmental initiatives to promote sustainability within 
its business. The Group upholds the principles of emission reduction and resource efficiency in its 
environmental management approaches. This is achieved by implementing measures that promote 
energy efficiency, wastes reduction and other green initiatives. The Group is also committed to 
educating its employees in raising their awareness of environmental protection and complying with 
relevant environmental laws and regulations. Within its policy framework, the Group continually 
looks for opportunities to pursue environmentally friendly initiatives, enhance its environmental 
performance by reducing energy consumption and the use of other resources.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws 
and regulations concerning air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation 
of non-hazardous waste, including but not limited to the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong, 
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Environmental Protection Law of the 
People’s Republic of China (the” PRC”).

Main types of emission sources from the Group during the reporting period were mainly petrol 
consumed by Group-owned vehicle, use of electricity, disposal of paper to landfill and business air 
travel. The Group’s business does not involve in consumption of packaging materials, production-
related air, water, and land pollutions which are regulated under national laws and regulations. 
In addition, the Group’s core businesses in financial services, car operating lease services and 
property technology services do not contribute to significant environmental or natural resources 
impact comparing to businesses in other sectors. Most importantly, the Group still strives to 
minimize its adverse environmental impact from its business operation.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1 Emissions (continued)

Air emissions

A total of 6,865.09 liters of petrol was used for the Group-owned vehicles in the Reporting Period, 
contributing to 0.10 kg of sulphur oxides, 2.51 kg of nitrogen oxides and 0.18 kg of particulate 
matter.

Greenhouse gas emissions

Scope of Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions Emission Sources

Emission1 
(in tCO2e)

Total 
Emission 

(in %)

Scope 1
Direct Emission Unleaded petrol consumed by Group-owned 

 Vehicle 18.59 38%

Scope 2
Indirect Emission Use of Electricity 25.25 52%

Scope 3
Other Indirect Emission Paper Consumption 0.89 10%

Business Air Travel 4.18

Total 48.91 100%

Note 1: Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules and their 
referred documentation as set out by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated 
otherwise.

There were 48.91 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO2e”) greenhouse gases (mainly comprise 
of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide) emitted from the Group’s business operation in the 
Reporting Period. The annual emission intensity was 0.02 tCO2e/m2, which contributed to a 46.41% 
reduction of emission intensity when compared to the last Reporting Period.

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group has set up teleconference facilities and use online meetings in office to avoid business 
trips whenever possible. When options are available, the Group also opts for direct flights to reduce 
unnecessary carbon emissions.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1 Emissions (continued)

Waste Management

The Group generated no hazardous waste in its operation throughout the Reporting Period. A 
total of 177.60 kg of paper has been used for daily office operations such as documents printing 
and deliverables packaging, contributing to an emission of 0.89 tCO2e greenhouse gases. Other 
recyclable materials (including waste packaging and raw materials) were collected either by 
licensed recyclers or suppliers.

The Group strives to minimize the waste and maximum the cycle of all usable resources as 
much as possible. The Group is aware that enormous amount of waste is usually generated after 
Chinese New Year and the Mid-Autumn Festival. Therefore, Group’s staff from the Hong Kong 
office actively participates in recycling campaigns. During the Reporting Period, the Group collected 
mooncake boxes in Mooncake Boxes Collection 2020 organized by Lippo Building Management 
Office in September and October 2020. Tin boxes were donated to KaHo Environmental Recycling 
Co and the paper boxes were proceeded for reuse and recycling. In February 2021, the Group 
joined the red packet reuse and recycling campaign, named Recycling Campaign for Collection of 
Useless Red Packets 2021, co-organized by Swire Properties and Greeners Action for the fourth 
consecutive year. The program encourages the public to get used to the idea of reusing red packets 
as an environmentally friendly practice during Chinese New Year. The collected red packets would 
be re-distributed to the general public in 2022 by Greeners Action.

Go Green Initiatives

The Group practices paper saving initiatives, such as adopting duplex printing, printing internal 
documents with recycling paper and reducing the document size by “2-in-1” or “4-in-1” as many 
as possible. Starting from 2016, the Group has been providing employees with e-staff Handbook, 
monthly e-Payroll Advice, e-submission of Group Medical and Hospitality Plan and e-submission 
related to Mandatory Provident Fund instead of paper forms to reduce paper use at source. It 
encourages staff to reuse single-side printed waste paper, used envelope, box file, and filing index 
etc. During the Reporting Period, a total of 201.80 kg of paper had been recycled, which contributed 
to an emission reduction of 0.97 tCO2e greenhouse gases.

The Group believes that contributing to a more sustainable environment is a creditable business 
practice. It constantly reminds staff to “save paper, save energy and save water” through notices 
and email. By implementing the following initiatives, the Group strives to perform the best in every 
aspect of environmental protection so as to construct a green office ultimately.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1 Emissions (continued)

Go Green Initiatives (continued)

a. Go Paperless

The Group has adopted “Go Paperless” initiative to reduce paper usage and make use of 
technologies in order to create a paperless working environment. Staff is encouraged to:

• Make printing and copying a need instead of a want;

• Reuse blank second sides of copies for notes or scrap paper;

• Print or copy with “2-in-1” or double-sided settings; and

• Go digital whenever possible for filing, on-screen presentations and follow up with 
electronic copies.

b. Energy Saving

Energy Saving labels and notices are placed on lighting switches, printers, paper shredders, 
copiers and monitors as friendly reminders, reminding staff to turn them off whenever 
possible.

c. Reducing the Use of M-fold Paper Towel and Dishwashing Detergent

Knowing that staff uses 2 to 3 pieces of M-Fold paper towel daily for drying cups and 
containers, staff is highly recommended to bring their own towel for cleaning and drying, or 
use 1 piece of paper towel each time when needed. They are also encouraged to use less 
dishwashing detergent.

d. Reusing Used Envelopes and Office Stationeries

Staff is encouraged to reuse single-side printed waste paper, used envelope, box file, and 
filing index etc.

e. Green Procurement

The Administration Department has made a lot of progress in purchasing products with 
higher recycled content for office supplies and will continue their effort in sourcing products 
with improved recyclability and greater durability, as well as to avoid disposable items and 
unnecessary packaging.

f. Collection of Waste Paper, Metal and Plastic

The Group prides itself on segregating waste efficiently. Waste paper is collected in 
collection bags while waste metal and plastic are collected in the pantry. The assigned 
Environmental Protection Ambassador will then transfer all these recyclable materials to 
building management office for recycling regularly.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A2 Use of Resources

Minimizing Energy Consumption

The Group strives to minimize the energy consumed at all levels in its operations by identifying and 
imposing measures to increase energy and resource efficiency.

The resources used by the Group are principally attributed to electricity, water, paper and petrol 
consumed in its daily operation. With the aim to better manage its use of resources, regular 
assessments of the use of resources are performed. The Group has adopted green office practices 
to reduce natural consumption and its impact on the environment. Throughout the years, the 
Group put forth a strong emphasis on minimizing the usage of mentioned materials during our daily 
operations. The following table shows the figures of material consumption in the Group’s business 
operations.

Types of resources Unit Amount

Petrol Liter 6,865

Electricity kWh 31,959

Tap water m3 1,589

During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed 6,865 liters of petrol, 31,959 kWh electricity 
and 1,589 m3 tap water. The Group was principally engaged in the provision of financial services 
business, car operating lease services and property technology services. We did not consume 
significant volume of water through our business activities, and therefore our business activities 
did not generate material portion of discharge into water during the Reporting Period. In addition, 
only the data of water consumption in the PRC office is provided as the water supply in Hong Kong 
office is managed by property management company with no data disclosure. The annual water 
consumption intensity was 0.63 m3/m2 in the Reporting Period.

Energy Consumption Sources
Direct 

Consumption

Energy 
Consumption 

(in kWh)

Petrol 6,865 Liter 62,472

Electricity 31,959 kWh 31,959

Total 94,431

The energy used in the Group’s operation included consumption of petrol and electricity. The 
Group consumed a total of 94,431 kWh energy during the Reporting Period. The annual energy 
consumption intensity was 37.51 kWh/m2, which contributed to a 34.46% reduction of energy 
consumption intensity when compared to the last Reporting Period.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A2 Use of Resources (continued)

Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group encourages staff to adopt energy saving measures through reminders, emails and 
notices. For example, switching off unnecessary lighting and electronic appliances and turning 
computers and monitors off after work, controlling temperature of air conditioners (at or around 
25 degrees Celsius) and heater (at or lower than 20 degrees Celsius), and ensuring lighting and 
electronic appliances are turned off after work. The Group also adopted LED light tube in its 
office and will explore further opportunities to reduce electricity consumption. Besides, energy 
saving labels are placed on lighting switches, printers, paper shredders, copiers and monitors as 
environmental friendly reminders, reminding staff to turn them off whenever possible.

Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The water used by the Group is mainly for daily general usage. During the Reporting Period, the 
Group has actively adopted various measures to educate the staffs to save water from daily life. 
In order to establish proper attitude towards the use of water in the office, the Group have posted 
water saving sign at prominent places to remind employees of controlling the water flow when 
washing hands, minimizing tap water flow and switching off the tap after use.

Packaging Materials

The Group did not involve in the consumption of packaging materials during the Reporting Period.

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

Aiming to Minimize Impact on the Environment

The business activities of the Group have no significant impact on environment and natural 
resources, while the Group still takes environmental issues into due consideration when marking 
corporate decision and actively minimize the impact of our business operations on the environment. 
It is believed that contributing to a more sustainable environment is a creditable business practice. 
In addition, the Group constantly raises staff awareness of environmental issues through education 
and training and reminds staff to “save paper, save energy and save water” through notices and 
email.

A4 Climate Change

Addressing the Climate Change Issue

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been significantly impacted by climate-related 
issues while the Group understands climate-related issues are harmful to the environment and have 
been rigorously regulated by the United Nations’ Framework Convention. The Group recognises 
the importance of identifying climate change risk in order to mitigate the associated impacts on its 
business operations. As a result, the Group has continuously evaluated for any impact arising from 
natural disaster and has taken measures to mitigate its impacts.
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B. SOCIAL
B1 Employment and Labour Practices

Equal Employment Practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of employees whom it considers the Group’s 
most valuable assets and the foundation of its business development. Hence, the Group strives 
to attract and retain talents and reconcile economical imperatives with well-beings, aiming at 
reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty and commitment of human capital, as well as treating our staff fairly 
and equally.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources manual which includes policies and 
procedures applicable to all staff. The Group offer employees competitive and fair remuneration 
packages with discretionary year-end bonus that commensurate with their experience, performance 
and job responsibilities. Annual review of salaries has been proceeded based on employees’ overall 
work performance, attitude, job knowledge, job responsibilities, punctuality, qualification, pay scale, 
the Group’s operating results, the prevailing inflation rate and other conditions in the market. All 
employees are treated fairly regarding recruitment, training and development, appraisal of work 
performance, promotions, rest periods, remuneration and benefits.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations of 
employment, including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Minimum 
Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong, 
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour 
Contract Law of the PRC and the Social Insurance Law of the PRC.

Employee Benefits and Welfare

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group strives to provide an excellent and comfortable working 
environment. The Group sets appropriate and regular working hours and rest breaks for all staff 
members in their respective employment letter. The standard working hours are around 9 to 10 
hours per day and 40 to 60 hours per week, with discretion on compensation for overtime work 
depending on employees’ positions and duties. In order to cope with the COVID-19, the Group 
adopted flexible lunch time during the Reporting Period. The Group also provides paid annual leave, 
sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, medical attendance leave, compassionate leave, jury 
service leave, marriage leave and seminar/conference/training leave in addition to statutory holidays 
set by the government. Insurance benefits scheme offered includes employees’ compensation 
insurance, group medical insurance, business travel insurance plan, Mandatory Provident Fund 
(“MPF”) scheme and Social Insurance Policy in Hong Kong and China. Allowances on mobile 
phone, transportation and uniform are also provided to employees with respective needs. The 
Group was honored as a Good MPF Employer Award 19-20 by the MPF Schemes Authority and a 
Caring Company Award 2017-2021 by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B1 Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Transfer, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group provides opportunities for internal transfers under employees’ request, provided that 
there is an opening in the transferee department. It is also subject to appraisal evaluation of the 
employee’s qualification and approval by the head of the transferor and transferee department. 
Annual performance appraisal serves as an effective tool for department heads to evaluate 
employees’ capabilities, work performances and contribution to the Group in accordance with 
the Group’s policies and procedures, setting the basis for any salary adjustment and internal 
promotion. Whenever possible, promotion opportunities will first be offered to talented employees 
before posting of job vacancies in public. Employees are also welcomed to discuss their career 
development with their respective department head or the Human Resources Department.

An employee who wishes to resign should tender notice in writing to the Group as stipulated in his 
or her letter of appointment. Staff dismissals are based on the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 
of Laws of Hong Kong) or relevant local laws and regulations, as well as the requirements stipulated 
in the employment contracts.

Equal Opportunity

The Group provides a fair, equal opportunity, respectful and pleasant work environment to 
employees. All practices are designed to ensure processes of recruitment, employment, assignment, 
training, promotion, compensation and offers are based on employees’ qualifications, experience 
and/or the terms and conditions, regardless of employees’ race, color, religion, national origin, sex, 
age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal appearance, family 
responsibilities, matriculation or any other characteristic protected under local law.

Employee Relations

The Group organizes celebrative activities, voluntary activities and gatherings to strengthen team 
spirit and sense of belongings among employees. In the Reporting Period, the Group organized the 
Chinese New Year Lion Dance Ceremony 2021 and the Christmas Buffet Lunch in the office.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B1 Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Total Employees and Turnover

As of 31 March 2021, the Group employed 117 staffs in total. As an illustration, the workforce 
statistic by employment type, gender, are illustrated in pie graphs while the workforce statistic by 
age group and geographical region are disclosed as bar charts:

Employment Type and Gender

Full-time 
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Part-time
4%

EMPLOYEE BREAKDOWN BY
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Employee Age Group

The Group has more than half of its workforce as male and over 95% of its staff is under full time 
employment category. Over 40% of the Group’s staff is aged between 26 to 35. All employees are 
remunerated fairly, regardless of gender, age or nationality.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B1 Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Total Employees and Turnover (continued)

The annual turnover rates categorized by different gender, age group and geographical region in 
the Reporting Period are as follows:

 

0.0%

4.0%

2.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

elaMelameF

%
 o

f T
ur

no
ve

r R
at

e

Employee Gender

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER RATE BY GENDER

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

26-3518-25 36-45 46-55 56 and above

6.0%

%
 o

f T
ur

no
ve

r R
at

e

Employee Age Group

EMPLOYEE TURNOVER RATE BY AGE GROUP 



Annual Report 2020/21 • Goldbond Group Holdings Limited 33

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B1 Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

Total Employees and Turnover (continued)
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Hong Kong PRC

The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour standards and employment laws and 
regulations which are applicable to our business. During the Reporting Period, no material and 
significant disputes between the Group and the employees were occurred.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2 Health and Safety

Promoting Health and Safety

In alignment with the Group’s ESG Policy, the Group strives to maintain a healthy, safe and quality 
workplace. The Group established a guideline on occupational health and safety to raise employees’ 
awareness on occupational health and safety, which helps employee understand potential hazards 
in their workplace and preventive measures to occupational health and safety diseases and it laid 
out measures to ensure healthy and safe practices in the following aspects:

• Lighting;

• Indoor Air Quality and Ventilation;

• Office Furniture and Working Posture;

• Office Equipment;

• Manual Work Handling;

• Other Office Safety;

• Fire Safety;

• First Aid Box; and

• General Cleanliness.

The guideline is circulated to all employees through email and uploaded in the common drive for 
all staff. In cases of injury by accident or infection by disease in the course of work duties, staff 
members should report to the Administration Department as soon as possible after immediately 
proper first aid treatment. The accident will then be reported to the Labour Department and relevant 
insurer accordingly. Due to the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic in year 2020, the Group has adopted 
the following measures in the Reporting Period to protect the health of all staff:

• Keep close communication with all staff about the pandemic update and health advices from 
time to time

• Clear guidelines to all staff regarding the reporting criteria in case of suspension case and/or 
confirmed infection of Covid-19

• Close communication with Lippo building management office related to the confirmed cases 
in the Lippo Center and their cleaning schedule

• Prepare sufficient instant hand sanitizer, hand washing soap, face mask, 75% alcohol, 
bleach, tissue box, M-fold paper and other cleaning materials for office use

• Enhance the office cleaning and the frequency by 75% alcohol / Dettol antiseptic liquid
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2 Health and Safety (continued)

Promoting Health and Safety (continued)

• The copier button is wrapped by plastic paper for deep cleaning

• Newly added a door mat with sprayed with bleach for shoes sanitizing before entering the 
office

• All incoming mails, courier, documents or parcels will be sprayed with 75% alcohol before 
distribution

• 2 air filters were placed in the conference rooms for better ventilation

• All visitors are asked to wash their hands before entering in the office and put on their face 
mask during meeting

• Implementation of work from home / flexible lunch hour / flexible work hours / flexibility to get 
off duty earlier whenever applicable

• Check the List of “Building with Confirmed Case” from government website every 2 days to 
secure the safety of all staff.  If found, a range of stringent social distancing measures will be 
given to the related staff

• Prepare and update the emergency plan for business continuity with the top management 
from time to time 

• COVID-19 test kit is available in the office for testing

• New subscription of Zoom license for online meeting whenever possible

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complies with the Occupational Safety and Health 
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Occupational Disease Prevention Law of the PRC and the Safe 
Production Law of the PRC. No severe injury or fatality, and 0 lost days due work injury was 
reported throughout the Reporting Period.



Goldbond Group Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2020/2136

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B3 Development and Training

Talent Management

The Group acknowledges and highly value continuous staff training and development. Therefore, 
the Group takes a proactive approach to expose employees to different types of opportunities to 
advance their careers. On-the-job training is provided to all employees through day-to-day operation 
regarding the updates on Hong Kong Corporate Governance Code, Employment Ordinance, 
financial reporting, financial management, property technology, fire regulations, prevention and 
control measures for Covid-19 and etc. In addition, employees are encouraged to attend internal 
and external training courses to update the latest guidelines and information on market and 
industry development and requirements to improve their performance, and encourage their self-
developments as well as maintain their competitiveness within the industry.

Internally, the Group provides its new employees with induction training in the name of the product 
basic knowledge, staff basic education, and office software training. Paid training leave has been 
provided by the Group to all staff who has attended outside seminars, conferences and workshops 
that are related to their daily operations. Training contents are regularly reviewed to ensure they are 
up-to-date with the industrial standards and to ensure their relevance to the daily operation of the 
Group. Effectiveness assessments are conducted to provide feedback to the trainees on their skills 
learned and proficiency in the relevant areas.

The training hours and percentage categorized by different gender and employee category in the 
Reporting Period are as follows:
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B3 Development and Training (continued)

Talent Management (continued)

AVERAGE TRAINING HOURS PER
EMPLOYEE BY GENDER
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The Group strives to provide training to the staff to help them to keep abreast of the latest trend 
in the industry and the dynamic pace in current market. Besides, the Group supports employees 
to attend continuing professional development courses or conferences organized by professional 
bodies, such as trainings related to requirements for Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), updates on 
Hong Kong Corporate Governance Code, share option schemes, ESG reporting, stress and time 
management, and corporate laws and regulations in foreign countries.

Training, Induction and Continuing Development of Directors

Each Director receives comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/
her appointment so that he/she has appropriate understanding of the businesses and operations of 
the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing 
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Group is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all Directors for their 
continuous professional development. Each Director is briefed and updated from time to time to 
ensure that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and applicable 
and regulatory requirements and the governance policies of the Group. All Directors also understand 
the importance of continuous professional development and are committed to participating any 
suitable training to develop and refresh their professional knowledge and skills.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B4 Labour Standards

Prohibiting Forced Child and Labour

The Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour at all its units by strictly following and 
complying with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance 
of Hong Kong, the Provision on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC, the Labour Law 
of the PRC and the Contract Law of the PRC. The Group does not employ children until they reach 
the legal age to work as defined by local laws and regulations. Personal data such as identification 
cards will be collected to verify the identity of the interviewee during the recruitment process to 
ensure the applicant is over the legally authorised working age pertained to local labour laws.

To prevent forced labour practices, the human resources management functions would ensure 
sufficient rest days would be given to employees. No employee is made to work against his/her will 
or work as forced labour, or subject to corporal punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

B5 Supply Chain Management

Upholding High Procurement Standards

The Group upholds high procurement standards in China’s operation by adopting an internal 
control measures to ensure that its procurement process is conducted in an open and fair manner. 
The procurement process related to fixed assets, office supplies and equipment is started after 
the submission of a list whenever necessary. Market surveys are conducted, and quotations are 
obtained from various suppliers to formulate a procurement proposal for formal application after the 
approval made by Executive Directors. Thereafter, approval will be made by both Chief Financial 
Officer and Executive Directors before selecting suppliers and purchasing.

Although the Hong Kong operation has no procurement policy, procurement preferences are given 
to those products or services that are more environmentally friendly. For example, printing company 
using environmentally friendly paper and soy ink is selected for the Group’s bulk printing of annual 
reports.

B6 Commitment to Product Responsibility

Ensuring Good Service and Product Quality

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws and 
regulations concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to 
products and services and methods of redress, including but not limited to the Personal Data 
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong and Product Quality Law of the PRC.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B6 Commitment to Product Responsibility (continued)

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group strives its best to protect intellectual property of computer software. The Group does 
not allow employees to use their personal notebook and/or computer in the workplace, unless prior 
written approval is obtained from the management as set forth by the staff handbook. Without the 
consent of the management, employees are also strictly prohibited from installing any unauthorized 
and/or pirated software in the notebooks, computers, servers and/or other electronic devices 
provided by the Group. A proper approval should be obtained from the management if employees 
need extra hardware, software and/or licenses for their operation. Violation of the above regulations 
may result in disciplinary actions including immediate termination of employment without any 
compensation and notice. No material non-compliance in relation to intellectual property rights laws 
and regulations was recorded during the Reporting Period.

Confidentiality

Employees shall make every effort in providing adequate awareness and physical protection when 
handling the Group’s trade secrets, proprietary information or confidential data. Such information 
shall be held in strictest confidence and shall not be disclosed to any person, firm or corporation 
except as necessary in carrying his or her duties for the Group with such third party. Information 
including enquiries concerning the Group, its customers, business partners, existing and/or former 
employees should be directed to the appropriate party for proper handling. A breach of the above 
confidentiality provisions will result in disciplinary actions or dismissal without compensation. No 
material non-compliance in relation to confidentiality laws and regulations was recorded during the 
Reporting Period.

Email Usage Monitoring

The Group monitors email usage to facilitate efficient provision of service to business partners, 
maintain a stable email service environment for communications and provide information for 
management to ensure proper utilization of the Group’s resources. Email facilities shall only be 
used for facilitating business of the Group. The Group reserves the right to log all out-going and 
in-coming email, access contents of all email held in the employee’s mailboxes at any times and 
conduct random checks to ensure conditions of use of email facilities are observed. The logs 
and recorded information of email will be checked and recorded for ensuring compliance with the 
Group’s rules and regulations, responding to any legal processes or investigating suspected breach 
of the staff handbook and/or any policy of the Group. Access to the logs and contents of email is 
restricted to the management and/or authorized person(s) only.

Complaints Handling

The Group opens complaint channels to all shareholders and potential shareholders, customers and 
consumers, suppliers and contractors, all directors and employees of the Group. Although no policy 
was set up, complaints will be received by the company secretary, department heads and head of 
human resources of the respective offices for further handling. No complaint was received in the 
Reporting Period.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B7 Anti-corruption

Commitment to Anti-Corruption

The Group emphatically affirms its zero-tolerance stance regarding corruption, fraud, and all 
other behaviours that severely violate professionalism and work ethics. The Group adheres to a 
high standard of integrity, transparency and accountability in its operations. As stated in the staff 
handbook, without prior permission from the Group, employee shall not be engaged in any work 
or be involved in any business either alone or jointly with any other person or persons, or with a 
company directly or indirectly related to the reward or receipt of commission or fee from the Group. 
Employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any advantage in money or in kind from any parties 
having business relations with the Group for their personal benefit. Employees are also prohibited to 
invite any of the parties having business relations with the Group to attend their personal banquets, 
dinner parties and/or personal gathering.

The Group has set up an effective whistleblowing policy to encourage employees for reporting of 
fraud, corruption, bribery, extortion and money laundering when it occurs. In case of suspected 
corruption or other criminal offences, a report will be made to the Hong Kong Independent 
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”) or the appropriate authorities in the PRC. Any employee 
in breach of this regulation is liable to be summarily dismissed and may render himself or herself 
liable to prosecution under Section 9 of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of the Laws of Hong 
Kong.

The Group’s operations in China also posted whistleblowing reminders publicly to provide channels 
for the public to report any improprieties of the Group. Whistleblowing complaints will be handled 
with sensitivity, discretion, and confidentiality to the extent allowed by the circumstances and the 
law. The identity of the whistleblower will not be disclosed without the consent of the employee. 
Allegations that are baseless and not made in good faith may result in disciplinary action. Directors 
and employees received training from time to time to ensure that they comply and familiar with the 
anti-corruption guides, policies and procedures of the Group during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations 
of bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering, including but not limited to the Prevention of 
Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, the PRC Anti-unfair 
Competition Law and the PRC Criminal Law. There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt 
practices brought against the Group or its employees during the Reporting Period.
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B. SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B8 Community Investment

Contributing to the Welfare of Society

The Group encourages staff to take part in community welfare and voluntary work for the sake of 
fulfilling its responsibility and giving back to the society. During the Reporting Period, the Group 
made a donation of HKD5,267.20 to Po Leung Kuk for life education and elderly service in August 
2020.

In addition, the Group also participated in the following charitable events and volunteering activities:

1. Participation in “Mooncake Boxes Collection 2020”

The Group participated in “Mooncake Boxes Collection 2020” organised by Lippo Building 
Management Office in September and October 2020 to encourage and promote community 
recycling and environmental awareness.

2. Participation in “Recycling Campaign for Collection of Useless Red Packets 2021”

The Group participated in “Recycling Campaign for Collection of Useless Red Packets 
2021” co-organised by Swire Properties and Greeners Action in February 2021 to promote 
environmental awareness regarding re-using red packets and protecting environment while 
enjoying the Chinese New Year.

3. Participation in “Earth Hour 2021” for the theme of “Let Ocean Shine”

The Group participated in “Earth Hour 2021 – Let Oceans Shine” organised by WWF-Hong 
Kong on 27 March 2021 to show the Group’s commitment towards addressing the climate 
crisis and deterioration of biodiversity on Earth by switching off non-essential lights for one 
hour from 8:30pm to 9:30pm.
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Aspect A1: Emissions
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relating to air 
and greenhouse gas emiss ions, 
discharges into water and land, and 
generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Emissions – Governance on Air and 
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions; 
A i r  Emiss ions; GHG Emiss ions; 
Measures to Mit igate Emissions; 
Was te  Managemen t ;  Go Green 
Initiatives

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective 
emissions data.

Emissions – Air Emissions; GHG 
Emissions; Waste Management; Go 
Green Initiatives

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 
2) GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and 
intensity.

Emissions – GHG Emissions

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 
and intensity.

Emissions – Waste Management (Not 
applicable – Explained)

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in 
tonnes) and intensity.

Emissions – Waste Management

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

Emissions – Air Emissions; GHG 
Emissions; Measures to Mit igate 
Emissions; Waste Management; Go 
Green Initiatives

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction 
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

Emissions – Waste Management; Go 
Green Initiatives
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Subject Areas, Aspect, 
General Disclosure 
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect A2: Use of 
Resources
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, 

including energy, water and other raw 
materials.

Use of  Resources – Min imiz ing 
Energy Consumption

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption 
by type in total and intensity.

Use of  Resources – Min imiz ing 
Energy Consumption

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Use of  Resources – Min imiz ing 
Energy Consumption

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) 
set and steps taken to achieve them.

Use of  Resources – Min imiz ing 
Energy Consumption; Energy Use 
Efficiency Initiatives

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in 
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

Use of Resources – Water Use 
Efficiency Initiatives

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished 
products (in tonnes) and with reference to 
per unit produced.

Use o f  Resources – Packag ing 
Materials (Not applicable)

Aspect A3: The 
Environment and 
Natural Resources
General Disclosure P o l i c i e s  o n  m i n i m i z i n g  t h e  i s s u e r ’ s 

significant impact on the environment and 
natural resources.

T h e  E n v i r o n m e n t  a n d  N a t u r a l 
Resources – Aiming to Minimize 
Impact on the Environment

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of 
activities on the environment and natural 
resources and the actions taken to manage 
them.

T h e  E n v i r o n m e n t  a n d  N a t u r a l 
Resources – Aiming to Minimize 
Impact on the Environment

Aspect A4: Climate 
Change
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of 

significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the 
issuer.

Climate Change – Addressing the 
Climate Change Issue

KPI A4.1 Descr ipt ion of the s igni f icant c l imate-
related issues which have impacted, and 
those which may impact, the issuer, and the 
actions taken to manage them.

Climate Change – Addressing the 
Climate Change Issue

INDEX FOR ESG REPORTING GUIDE (CONTINUED)
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Subject Areas, Aspect, 
General Disclosure 
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B1: Employment
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relat ing to 
c o m p e n s a t i o n  a n d  d i s m i s s a l , 
recruitment and promotion, working 
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, 
diversity, antidiscrimination, and other 
benefits and welfare.

Employment and Labour Practices

Aspect B2: Health and 
Safety
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relat ing to 
providing a safe working environment 
and p ro tec t ing emp loyees f rom 
occupational hazards.

Health and Safety

Aspect B3: Development 
and Training
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge 

and skills for discharging duties at work. 
Description of training activities.

Development and Training

Aspect B4: Labour 
Standards
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relat ing to 
preventing child and forced labour.

Labour Standards

INDEX FOR ESG REPORTING GUIDE (CONTINUED)
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Subject Areas, Aspect, 
General Disclosure 
and KPIs Description Section/Declaration

Aspect B5: Supply Chain 
Management
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and 

social risks of the supply chain.
Supply Chain Management

Aspect B6: Product 
Responsibility
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relating to health 
and safety, advertising, labelling and 
privacy matters relating to products 
and services provided and methods 
of redress.

Commitment to Product Responsibility

Aspect B7: 
Anti-corruption
General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer relat ing to 
bribery, extortion, fraud and money 
laundering.

Anti-corruption

Aspect B8: Community 
Investment
General Disclosure Pol ic ies on community engagement to 

understand the needs of the communities 
where the issuer operates and to ensure 
its activities take into consideration the 
communities’ interests.

Community Investment

INDEX FOR ESG REPORTING GUIDE (CONTINUED)
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Directors’ Report

The Directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 
Year.

PLACE OF INCORPORATION OF THE COMPANY AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE 
GROUP
The Company is an investment holding company incorporated in Hong Kong. The principal activities and other 
particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the review of the business of the Group, the key financial performance indicators of the Group, an indication 
of likely future development in the Group’s business and particulars of important events affecting the Group that 
have occurred since the end of the financial year, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion 
and Analysis” on pages 4 to 10 of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the Year and the state of the Group’s and the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 
2021 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 132 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend in respect of the Year (2020: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group’s revenue and profit from operating activities for the Year were derived from provision of financial 
services and trading of goods in Hong Kong and China. Segment analysis is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, 
as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 3 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Movement during the Year in the reserves of the Group is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity on page 65 of this annual report and movement in the reserves of the Company is set out in Note 35 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had no distributable reserve (2020: Nil).
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BANK BORROWING
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no bank borrowing (2020: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the share capital of the Company during the Year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 59% (2020: 100%) of the 
Group’s revenue and the largest customer accounted for approximately 28% (2020: 74%) of the Group’s revenue.

During the Year, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 46% (2020: Nil) of the 
Group’s cost of services rendered and the largest supplier accounted for approximately 20% (2020: Nil).

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns 
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the customers and suppliers noted above.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme. Particulars of which are set out in Note 41 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 117 (2020: 25) staff located in both Hong Kong and China. The Group 
remunerates these employees based on their performance, experience and prevailing industry practices. Other 
benefits offered to these employees include medical insurance, retirement scheme and training subsidies. In 
addition, the Group has set up a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives to the eligible 
employees, details of which are set out under the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES” below.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects may be affected by a number of 
risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. To the best of knowledge and 
belief, the Directors consider that the following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group as at 
the date of this report.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business objectives arising from the 
movement in market prices, for instance, foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The management of the 
Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in Renminbi. During the year ended 
31 March 2021, the Group did not carry out any hedging activity against foreign currency risk. Any substantial 
exchange rate fluctuation of foreign currencies against Renminbi may have a financial impact on the Group.

Interest Rate Risk

For interest-sensitive investments, the Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and 
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of means.

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk arises from fluctuation in market prices of the Group’s investment in financial assets. The 
investment portfolio is frequently reviewed and monitored by the senior management to ensure prompt action is 
taken and the loss arising from the changes in the market values is capped within an acceptable range.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that the Group will be unable to meet its obligations when they fall due because of 
an inability to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In managing liquidity risk, the Group monitors cash 
flows and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s 
operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or 
from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with every function at divisional 
and departmental levels. Key functions in the Group are guided by their standard operating procedures, limits of 
authority and reporting framework. The management will identify and assess key operational exposures regularly 
so that appropriate risk response can be taken.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David (Chief Executive Officer) 
 (appointed as an executive Director with effect from 7 April 2021) 
Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo
Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur

The Company has received written confirmation from all Independent Non-executive Directors regarding their 
independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the Independent 
Non-executive Directors to be independent.

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed “Information on Directors and Senior 
Management” in this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors is subject to 
retirement and re-election at the forthcoming general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and will 
also be subject to the retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles of association of the 
Company and the CG Code.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
In accordance with Article 162, subject to the Companies Ordinance, but without prejudice to any indemnity to 
which a Director may otherwise be entitled, the managing Directors, Directors, auditors, secretary and other 
officers for the time being of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any 
liability incurred by them or any of them as the holder of any such office or appointment in defending any 
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in their favour or in which they are acquitted 
or in connection with any application under the Companies Ordinance in which relief is granted by the Court. 
The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides 
appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in 
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of 
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the 
SFO, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by 
the Company (the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in shares (“Shares”)/underlying Shares of the Company

Number of Shares/underlying Shares

Name of Directors 
and Chief executive Capacity

Personal 
Interest

Corporate 
Interest

Other 
Interest Total

Approximate 
% of 

Shareholding
(Note 8)

Directors
Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles 
 (“Mr. Wong”)

Beneficial owner and trustee 
 of discretionary trusts

103,000,000 
(Note 1)

– 1,575,465,517 
(Note 2)

1,678,465,517 60.77%

Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee
 (“Ms. Michelle Wong”)

Beneficial owner and
 beneficiary of discretionary 
 trusts

49,000,000
(Note 3)

– 1,575,465,517
(Note 2)

1,624,465,517 58.81%

Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP Beneficial owner 2,700,000
(Note 4)

– – 2,700,000 0.10%

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo Beneficial owner 2,600,000
(Note 5)

– – 2,600,000 0.09%

Chief executive
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David
 (Note 6)

Beneficial owner 26,000,000
(Note 7)

– – 26,000,000 0.94%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS (CONTINUED)
Long positions in shares of US$0.1 each of an associated corporation, namely, Goldbond Capital 
Investments Limited

Name of Director Capacity Number of shares
Approximate % 

of Shareholding 
(Note 9)

Mr. Wong Trustee of a trust 124,000 31%

Ms. Michelle Wong Beneficiary of a trust 124,000 31%

Long position in shares of HK$0.01 each of an associated corporation, namely, China Rongzhong 
Financial Holdings Company Limited (“China Rongzhong”)

Name of Director Capacity Number of shares
Approximate % 

of Shareholding
(Note 10)

Ms. Michelle Wong Trustee of a trust 20,234,242 4.91%

Notes:

1. These interests represented the share options granted to Mr. Wong under the 2002 Scheme and the 2012 Scheme (as 
defined under the section headed “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES” on pages 54 to 56 of this annual report).

2. These Shares were indirectly held by two discretionary trusts. The assets of these trusts included the entire issued 
share capital of Allied Luck Trading Limited (“Allied Luck”) (directly holding 855,808,725 Shares), Allied Golden 
Investment Limited (“Allied Golden”) and Aceyork Investment Limited (“Aceyork”) (indirectly holding 719,656,792 Shares 
through Ace Solomon Investments Limited (“Ace Solomon”), a company which was equally owned by Allied Golden and 
Aceyork). The trustees of these trusts were Mr. Wong and Mrs. Wong Fang Pik Chun and the beneficiaries of these 
trusts were Ms. Michelle Wong and Miss Wong and their children.

In light of the above, each of Mr. Wong and Ms. Wong is deemed to be interested in these Shares under the SFO.

3. These interests represented the share options granted to Ms. Michelle Wong under the 2002 Scheme and the 2012 
Scheme.

4. These interests included 1,200,000 Shares and 1,500,000 share options granted to Mr. Ma Ho Fai under the 2002 
Scheme.

5. These interests represented the share options granted to Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo under the 2002 Scheme.

6. Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 7 April 2021.

7. These interests represented the share options granted to Mr. D Wong under the 2012 Scheme.

8. As at 31 March 2021, there was a total of 2,761,912,843 Shares in issue.

9. As at 31 March 2021, there was a total of 400,000 shares of Goldbond Capital Investments Limited in issue.

10. As at 31 March 2021, there was a total of 412,509,000 shares of China Rongzhong in issue.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS (CONTINUED)
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or 
any of their respective associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and 
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register required to be kept 
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, as at 31 March 2021, shareholders 
(other than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or 
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of 
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 
336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares/underlying Shares of the Company

Name of substantial 
shareholder Capacity

Number of Shares/
underlying Shares Total

Approximate % 
of Shareholding 

(Note 5)

Mrs. Wong (i) Interest of spouse 103,000,000 
(Note 1)

1,678,465,517 60.77%

(ii) Trustees 1,575,465,517 
(Note 2)

Miss Jacqueline Wong Beneficiary of the 
 discretionary trusts

1,575,465,517 
(Note 2)

1,575,465,517 57.04%

Mr. Kwok Wing-Sien 
 (“Mr. Kwok”)

Interest of spouse 1,624,465,517 
(Note 3)

1,624,465,517 58.81%

Allied Luck Beneficial owner 855,808,725 855,808,725 30.99%

Ace Solomon Beneficial owner 719,656,792 
(Note 4)

719,656,792 26.06%

Aceyork Interest in controlled corporation 719,656,792 
(Note 4)

719,656,792 26.06%

Allied Golden Interest in controlled corporation 719,656,792 
(Note 4)

719,656,792 26.06%
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
Long position in the Company’s redeemable convertible preference shares (“PS”) (Note 6)

Name of substantial 
shareholder Capacity Total number of PS

Approximate % 
of shareholding of PS

Miss Jacqueline Wong Interest in controlled 
 corporation

68,400,000 100%

Notes:

1. Mrs. Wong is deemed to be interested in these underlying Shares held by Mr. Wong, her spouse, for the purpose of the 
SFO.

2. These Shares were indirectly held by two discretionary trusts. The assets of these trusts included the entire issued 
share capital of Allied Luck (directly holding 855,808,725 Shares), Allied Golden and Aceyork (indirectly holding 
719,656,792 Shares through Ace Solomon, a company which was equally owned by Allied Golden and Aceyork). The 
trustees of these trusts were Mr. Wong and Mrs. Wong and the beneficiaries of these trusts were Ms. Michelle Wong 
and Miss Jacqueline Wong and their children.

In light of the above, each of Mrs. Wong and Miss Jacqueline Wong is deemed to be interested in these Shares.

3. Mr. Kwok is deemed to be interested in these Shares/underlying Shares held by Ms. Michelle Wong, his spouse, for the 
purpose of the SFO.

4. These Shares were held by Ace Solomon as described in Note 2 above. Allied Golden and Aceyork are taken to be 
interested in these Shares.

5. As at 31 March 2021, there was a total of 2,761,912,843 Shares in issue.

6. As at 31 March 2021, there was a total of 68,400,000 PS in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company had not been notified by any persons (other than 
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying 
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under 
Section 336 of the SFO.



Goldbond Group Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2020/2154

Directors’ Report

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements. Each 
of the related party transactions during the Year constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected 
transaction but is fully exempted and not subject to any of the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related Party Transaction” and in Note 38 to the consolidated 
financial statements in connection with the related party transactions, no contracts of significance in relation to 
the Group’s business to which the Company and any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had 
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or at any time during the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
On 31 August 2012, the Company terminated the old share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) which was 
adopted on 18 September 2002, and adopted a new share option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) on the same 
date with similar terms for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute 
to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants under the 2012 Scheme include, among others, 
employees (whether full time or part time), Directors, controlling shareholders, customers, adviser, consultant, 
contractor, suppliers, agents or service providers of the Group. No further share options will be granted under 
the 2002 Scheme, but the provisions of the 2002 Scheme remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary 
to give effect to the exercise of the share options (to the extent not already exercised) granted prior to its 
termination.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options that are or may be granted 
under the 2012 Scheme and the 2002 Scheme equals to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of 
the 2012 Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2021, the total number of shares which may be issued on the exercise of options granted or to 
be granted under the 2012 Scheme and the 2002 Scheme is 257,601,284, representing approximately 9.33% of 
the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. In addition, no options shall be granted to 
any eligible person which, if exercised, would result in such eligible participant becoming entitled to subscribe 
for such number of shares as, when aggregated with the total number of shares already issued or to be issued 
to him under all options granted to him (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month 
period up to and including the date of offer, exceeds 1% of the shares in issue at such date.

An option granted under the 2012 Scheme shall be subject to such terms and conditions (if any) as may be 
determined by the Board at the date of offer and specified in the offer. Such terms and conditions may include 
a minimum period for which any option must be held before it can be exercised and/or any performance target 
which need to be achieved by an option-holder before the option can be exercised.

Details of the movements of share options under the 2002 Scheme during the Year were as follows:

Grantee
Date of 

grant
Exercise 

price Exercise period
Outstanding 

at 31/3/20

Grated 
during 

the Year

Expired/
lapsed 
during 

the Year
Outstanding 

at 31/3/21
(HK$) (Note 2)

Directors
Mr. Wong 1/2/2011 0.410 1/2/2014 – 31/1/2021 26,000,000 – (26,000,000) –

Ms. Michelle Wong 1/2/2011 0.410 1/2/2014 – 31/1/2021 13,000,000 – (13,000,000) –

Mr. Ma Ho Fai 1/2/2011 0.410 1/2/2014 – 31/1/2021 1,500,000 – (1,500,000) –

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 1/2/2011 0.410 1/2/2014 – 31/1/2021 2,600,000 – (2,600,000) –

Eligible employees 
 (in aggregate)

1/2/2011 0.410 1/2/2014 – 31/1/2021 3,100,000 – (3,100,000) –

46,200,000 – (46,200,000) –
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)
Details of the movements of share options under the 2012 Scheme during the Year were as follows:

Grantee
Date of 

grant
Exercise 

price Exercise period
Outstanding 

at 31/3/20

Grated 
during 

the Year

Lapsed 
during 

the Year
Outstanding 

at 31/3/21
(HK$) (Note 2)

Directors
Mr. Wong 14/10/2014 0.360 14/10/2016 – 13/10/2024 26,000,000 – – 26,000,000

8/12/2016 0.272 8/12/2018 – 7/12/2026 25,000,000 – – 25,000,000

Ms. Michelle Wong 8/12/2016 0.272 8/12/2018 – 7/12/2026 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000 
18/4/2019 0.230 18/4/2022 – 17/4/2029 26,000,000 – – 26,000,000

Chief executive
Mr. Wong Ming Bun, 
 David (Note 3)

18/4/2019 0.230 18/4/2022 – 17/4/2029 26,000,000 – – 26,000,000

Eligible employees 28/6/2013 0.295 28/6/2015 – 27/6/2023 5,300,000 – – 5,300,000
 (in aggregate) 14/10/2014 0.360 14/10/2016 – 13/10/2024 28,500,000 – (12,500,000) 16,000,000

8/12/2016 0.272 8/12/2018 – 7/12/2026 5,100,000 – – 5,100,000

151,900,000 – (12,500,000) 139,400,000

Notes:

1. During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised or cancelled under the 2002 Scheme and the 2012 Scheme;

2. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

3. Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 7 April 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed under the section “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES” above, at no time during the Year or at 
the end of the Year was the Company, or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow 
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their 
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of 
the Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of 
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee. Information on the work of the Audit Committee and its composition are set out in the Corporate 
Governance Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as auditor of the Company with effect from 23 January 2020. 
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI ANDA”) has been appointed as the auditors of the Company 
with effect from 23 January 2020 to fill the causal vacancy following the resignation of Messrs. Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu. The financial statements for the Year have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA who retire and being 
eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Details of the change of 
auditor are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 23 January 2020.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report contains certain statements that are forward-looking or which use certain forward-looking 
terminologies. These forward-looking statements are based on the current beliefs, assumptions and expectations 
of the Board of Directors of the Company regarding the industry and markets in which it operates. These forward 
looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond the Company’s control which may 
cause actual results or performance to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking 
statements.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Yu Lung, Charles
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 June 2021
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GOLDBOND GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 132, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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ADVANCES PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS
Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of advances provided to customers for impairment. This impairment test is 
significant to our audit because the balance of advances provided to customers of HK$22,746,000 as at 31 
March 2021 is material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves 
application of judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

– Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits and credit periods to customers;

– Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with the customers;

– Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

– Assessing ageing of the debts;

– Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

– Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts;

– Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

– Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for advance provided to customers is supported by the available 
evidence.

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLE
Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of finance lease receivables for impairment. This impairment test is significant to 
our audit because the balance of finance lease receivables of HK$36,531,000 as at 31 March 2021 is material to 
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application of judgement 
and is based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

– Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits and credit periods to customers;

– Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction history with the customers;

– Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
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– Assessing ageing of the debts;

– Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

– Assessing the value of the collateral for the debts;

– Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

– Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for finance lease receivables is supported by the available 
evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information in 
the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.



Annual Report 2020/21 • Goldbond Group Holdings Limited 61

Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability 
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located at the 
HKICPA’s website at: http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/ 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants 
Fong Tak Ching
Audit Engagement Director 
Practising Certificate Number P06353 
Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE 7 23,013 57
Cost of services rendered (10,188) –
Interest revenue – finance lease 7 1,685 –
Interest revenue – financing and factoring services 7 533 93
Interest revenue – bank interest income 8 2,313 4,975
Other income 8 2,286 3,822
Operating expenses (55,642) (28,810)
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) on advances 
 provided to customers 23 3,100 (6,753)
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (455) (1,564)
Finance costs 9 (1,668) (1,511)
Share of loss of associates (31,039) (22,694)

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (66,062) (52,385)
Income tax credits/(expenses) 13 2,305 (52)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10 (63,757) (52,437)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) after tax 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation to presentation currency 
 attributable to:
 The Group 19,497 (17,288)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation to presentation currency 
 attributable to:
 The Group (6,849) 8,614
 An associate 847 (2,443)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of 
 a subsidiary attributable to the Group (1,232) –

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 12,263 (11,117)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR (51,494) (63,554)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
 Owners of the Company (60,043) (52,437)
 Non-controlling interests (3,714) –

(63,757) (52,437)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR 
 ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
 Owners of the Company (50,520) (63,554)
 Non-controlling interests (974) –

(51,494) (63,554)

LOSS PER SHARE
 – Basic and diluted (HK cents) 15 (2.17) (1.90)
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 16 44,566 585
 Right-of-use assets 17 10,135 9,753
 Intangible assets 18 2,309 –
 Interests in associates 19 21,940 52,132
 Finance lease receivables 22 3,713 –
 Advances provided to customers 23 391 –
 Club debentures 20 39,295 37,100
 Deferred tax assets 34 4,766 –

127,115 99,570

Current assets
 Inventory 21 2,764 –
 Finance lease receivables 22 32,818 –
 Advances provided to customers 23 22,355 13,396
 Accounts receivable 24 3,558 1,167
 Contract assets 25 9,639 –
 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 26 11,900 1,650
 Loan to an associate 19 1,470 1,470
 Structured deposits 27 10,714 –
 Short term bank deposits 28
  – with original maturity within three months 44,726 146,855
  – with original maturity more than three months – 102
 Bank balances and cash 28 25,817 16,282

165,761 180,922

Current liabilities
 Accounts payable 29 2,391 –
 Other payables and accruals 30 28,147 24,826
 Contract liabilities 25 51 –
 Security deposits 17,002 1,233
 Lease liabilities 31 6,127 4,886
 Taxation 2,186 2,367

55,904 33,312

Net current assets 109,857 147,610

Total assets less current liabilities 236,972 247,180
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
 Lease liabilities 31 4,214 5,014
 Redeemable convertible preference shares 33 9,704 8,439

13,918 13,453

NET ASSETS 223,054 233,727

Capital and reserves
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
 Share capital 32 829,209 829,209
 Reserves 35 (645,393) (595,482)

183,816 233,727
Non-controlling interests 39,238 –

Total equity 223,054 233,727

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 132 were approved and authorised for issue by the board 
of directors on 30 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Approved by:

Wong Yu Lung, Charles Wong, Michelle Yatyee
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share 
capital

Employee 
share-based 

compensation 
reserve*

General 
reserve*

Statutory 
surplus 

reserve*
Translation 

reserve*
Accumulated 

losses* Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 829,209 38,234 6,000 4,245 (42,084) (538,905) 296,699 – 296,699
Loss for the year – – – – – (52,437) (52,437) – (52,437)
Exchange differences on 
 translation to presentation 
 currency attributable to:
  The Group – – – – (8,674) – (8,674) – (8,674)
  An associate – – – – (2,443) – (2,443) – (2,443)

Total comprehensive expense 
 for the year – – – – (11,117) (52,437) (63,554) – (63,554)

Expiry of share options – (5,080) – – – 5,080 – – –
Lapse of share options – (16,620) – – – 16,620 – – –
Recognition of equity-settled 
 share-based payment expenses – 582 – – – – 582 – 582

Sub-total – (21,118) – – – 21,700 582 – 582

At 31 March 2020 829,209 17,116 6,000 4,245 (53,201) (569,642) 233,727 – 233,727

At 1 April 2020 829,209 17,116 6,000 4,245 (53,201) (569,642) 233,727 – 233,727
Loss for the year – – – – – (60,043) (60,043) (3,714) (63,757)
Exchange differences on 
 translation to presentation 
 currency attributable to:
  The Group – – – – 9,908 – 9,908 2,740 12,648
  An associate – – – – 847 – 847 – 847
Exchange differences reclassified 
 to profit or loss on disposal of 
 a subsidiary – – – – (1,232) – (1,232) – (1,232)

Total comprehensive expense 
 for the year – – – – 9,523 (60,043) (50,520) (974) (51,494)

Appropriation to statutory 
 surplus reserve 277 (277) – – –
Deconsolidated of a subsidiary – – – (258) – 258 – – –
Acquisition of a subsidiary – – – – – – – 40,212 40,212
Expiry of share options – (5,664) – – – 5,664 – – –
Lapse of share options – (1,523) – – – 1,523 – – –
Recognition of equity-settled 
 share-based payment expenses – 609 – – – – 609 – 609

Sub-total – (6,578) – 19 – 7,168 609 40,212 40,821

At 31 March 2021 829,209 10,538 6,000 4,264 (43,678) (622,517) 183,816 39,238 223,054

Note: Pursuant to the articles of association of the group companies established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), 
the group companies are required to appropriate 10% or an amount to be determined by the directors of their respective 
profit after taxation in accordance with the relevant accounting rules and financial regulations of the PRC before any 
distribution of dividends to owners each year to the statutory surplus reserve until their balances reach 50% of their 
respective registered capital.

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation (66,062) (52,385)
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,982 198
 Amortisation of intangible assets 303 –
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5,652 4,520
 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 609 582
 Finance costs 1,668 1,511
 Interest income from financing and factoring services (533) (93)
 Interest income from bank deposits and structured deposits (2,313) (4,975)
 (Reversal of impairment)/impairment losses on advances provided 
  to customers (3,100) 6,753
 Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 455 1,564
 Share of loss of associates 31,039 22,694
 Loss on written-off of property, plant and equipment – 6
 Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (1,331) –
 Gain on bargain purchase (53) –
 Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 182 (223)
 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 835 (3,583)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (30,667) (23,431)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable (1,661) 611
Increase in finance lease receivables (10,335) –
Increase in advances provided to customers (6,057) (2,822)
Increase in contract assets (9,639) –
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 23,882 (456)
Increase in inventory (2,618) –
Increase in accounts payable 2,391 –
Increase in contract liabilities 51 –
Decrease in bills and other payables (1,046) (83,549)
Increase in security deposits 4,385 66

Cash used in operations (31,314) (109,581)
Interest received from financing and factoring services 533 93
Enterprise income tax paid in the PRC (510) (225)

Net cash used in operating activities (31,291) (109,713)
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Placement of structured deposits (160,011) –
Withdrawal of structured deposits 150,595 84,767
Placement of short term bank deposits with original maturity 
 more than three months – (231)
Withdrawal of short term bank deposits with original maturity 
 more than three months 102 11,938
Interest received from bank deposits and structured deposits 2,313 6,273
Acquisition of a subsidiary (4,723) –
Disposal of a subsidiary (180) –
Sales proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,954 223
Capital injection to an associate – (5,092)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (46,810) (474)

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (55,760) 97,404

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Lease payment (5,997) (4,784)

Net cash used in financing activities (5,997) (4,784)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (93,048) (17,093)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 163,137 183,436
Effect on foreign exchange rate changes 454 (3,206)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 70,543 163,137

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash 25,817 16,282
Short term bank deposits with original maturity within three months 44,726 146,855

70,543 163,137
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION
Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in Hong 
Kong with its shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) and have been suspended for trading since 28 June 2019. The addresses of the registered 
office and principal place of business of the Company are Unit 3901, 39/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 
Queensway, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) is (i) the provision of financial services business including financing and 
finance lease services, factoring services and operating lease services; and (ii) the provision of property 
technology services in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) while the functional 
currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
(“HK$’000”), unless otherwise stated. The reason for selecting Hong Kong dollar as the presentation 
currency is because the Company is a public company with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange, 
where most of its investors are located in Hong Kong.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 
and interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong, the applicable disclosure required by the Hong 
Kong Company Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, 
the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 
estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the 
consolidated financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next 
year are discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3. A D O P T I O N O F N E W A N D R E V I S E D H O N G K O N G F I N A N C I A L R E P O R T I N G 
STANDARDS
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA that 
are relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 April 2020. HKFRSs 
comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKAS”); and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant 
changes to the Group accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
and amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. The Group 
has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to 
state whether these new HKFRSs would have a material impact on its results of operations and financial 
position.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. They 
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except 
when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of 
key assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors (“Directors”) to exercise their judgements in 
the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgements and areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements are disclosed in 
note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
made up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an 
entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity when 
the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities 
that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights 
held by other parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the 
holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents the difference 
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained 
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining 
goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated exchange fluctuation reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Consolidation (continued)

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the 
Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss 
and total comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the 
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to 
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing 
control, potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised 
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Interests in associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power 
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control 
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether 
the Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes to significant 
influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by the equity method 
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are 
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s 
share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The 
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is tested for impairment together with 
the investment at the end of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment is 
impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over 
the cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates (continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit 
or loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated 
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless 
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently 
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits 
equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of significant influence represents the 
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment 
retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s share of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining 
goodwill relating to that associate and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an 
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the 
equity method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s 
presentation currency. The functional currency of the Company is RMB. Each entity in the Group 
determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the 
functional currency rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 
reporting period. All differences are taken to the statement of comprehensive income. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong 
dollar. At the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the 
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period, and 
their statement of comprehensive incomes are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average 
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the 
exchange reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses. The cost of on property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Gain or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of 
the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their 
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life at the 
following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and motor vehicles 20% to 331/3%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item 
is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the 
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets 
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates 
are as follows:

Land and buildings 1 to 5 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of the lease 
liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the 
net present value of the lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate 
can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expenses 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial 
lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted 
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and 
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting 
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives 
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end. Intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Car license

Car license is stated at cost less any impairment losses and amortised on the straight-line basis over its 
estimated useful life of ten years.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Where no 
internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets 
expire; the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group 
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not 
retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 
and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an 
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by 
the market concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs 
except in the case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following categories:

– Financial assets at amortised cost;

– Investments at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are classified under this category if they 
satisfy both of the following conditions:

– the assets are held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

– the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less loss 
allowance for expected credit losses.

(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do not meet the conditions to be measured 
at amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income unless the Group designates an equity investment that is not held for trading as at fair value 
through other comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value with any 
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains 
or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any interest income and dividend income. Interest 
income and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost, 
contract assets and finance lease receivables. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of credit 
losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Loss allowances for expected credit losses (continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an 
amount equal to the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade receivables, contract assets and 
finance lease receivable, or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial instrument (other than trade receivables, 
contract assets and lease receivables) has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime 
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit losses that result from default events on that 
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the loss allowance at the end of the reporting 
period to the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash 
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term highly 
liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant 
risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the 
Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under 
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and 
equity instruments are set out below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 
they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer with reference to 
the customary business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract 
where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised product or 
service exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control over 
a product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that apply to 
that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance 
obligation is satisfied over time if:

– the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 
performance;

– the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is 
created or enhanced; or

– the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the 
Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is recognised by reference to the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point 
in time when the customer obtains control of the product or service.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a 
result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all employees. 
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’ 
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents contributions 
payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw 
the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment of 
termination benefits.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Share-based payment

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to eligible participants who contribute to the 
success of the Group’s operations. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at the fair value 
(excluding the effect of non market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually 
vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in 
which they are incurred.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at 
the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 
of economic benefit is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before 
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such 
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred 
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current 
tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included 
in the accounting for the business combination.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the entities comprising the Group are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) The entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group 
or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources and 
obligations between related parties.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 
assets except investment properties, inventories and receivables to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment loss. Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating 
unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or 
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial 
statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s chief operating 
decision maker (“CODM”) for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, 
the Group’s various lines of business and geographical location.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classified as a separate allocation of retained earnings 
within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have been approved 
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders 
and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and 
articles of association grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim 
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the end 
of the reporting period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting 
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are 
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

Redeemable convertible preference shares containing liability and equity components

Redeemable convertible preference shares issued by the Group that contain both the liability and 
conversion option components are classified separately into respective items on initial recognition. A 
conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset 
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Redeemable convertible preference shares containing liability and equity components (continued)

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is determined using the prevailing market 
interest of similar non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of 
the redeemable convertible preference shares and the fair value assigned to the liability component, 
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert the notes into equity, is included in equity.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the redeemable convertible preference shares is carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The equity component, representing by the option 
to convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in the redeemable 
convertible preference shares reserve until the embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance 
stated in the redeemable convertible preference shares reserve will be transferred to share premium). 
Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in redeemable convertible 
preference shares reserve will be released to retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the redeemable convertible preference shares are allocated 
to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the proceeds. Transaction costs 
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability 
component are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the 
redeemable convertible preference shares using the effective interest method.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of interests in associates

Interests in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations are used for 
assessing the recoverable amount of these interests. These calculations require use of judgments 
and estimates.

Management judgment is required for assessing impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether 
an event has occurred that may indicate that the related carrying value of interests may not be 
recoverable; and (ii) whether the carrying value of the interests can be supported by the recoverable 
amount. Changing the estimations used by management in assessing impairment could materially 
affect the recoverable amount used in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s 
consolidated financial position and consolidated results of operations. At the end of the reporting 
period, the carrying value of interests in associates were approximately HK$21,940,000 (2020: 
HK$52,132,000).
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b) Impairment on financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets 
requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and 
collateral values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase 
in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in 
different levels of allowances.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the 
expected life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The Group considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort 
for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative information and also, forward-looking 
analysis.

(c) Income taxes

As at 31 March 2021, no deferred tax asset (2020: nil) in relation to estimated unused tax losses of 
HK$218,586,000 (2020: HK$218,570,000) was recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement 
of financial position because of the unpredictability of future profit streams as disclosed in Note 
34. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or 
taxable temporary differences will be available in the future.

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group’s operating segments, identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the 
Group that are regularly reviewed by the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating 
decision maker (“CODM”), in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess performance, are 
summarised as follows:

(a) financial services business – factoring segment: provision of factoring services;

(b) financial services business – financing segment: provision of financing and finance lease services;

(c) financial services business – operating lease segment: provision of operating lease business; and

(d) property technology segment: provision of property technology services.

The segment information is reported below.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segments is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Property 
technology 

service

Financial 
services

business –
operating 

lease

Financial 
services 

business – 
financing and
finance lease

Financial 
services 

business – 
factoring Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers:
 Recognised at over time 15,625 – – – 15,625

15,625 – – – 15,625
Revenue from other sources – 7,143 245 – 7,388
Interest revenue – finance lease – – 1,685 – 1,685
Interest revenue – financing and factoring services – – 319 214 533

Segment revenue 15,625 7,143 2,249 214 25,231

Segment results (8,003) 1,297 1,128 (1,784) (7,362)

Unallocated interest revenue and other income 2,501
Net exchange loss (2,887)
Central administration costs (25,205)
Gain on bargain purchase 53
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss (455)
Finance costs (1,668)
Share of loss of associates (31,039)

Loss before taxation (66,062)



Goldbond Group Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2020/2184

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Financial 
services 

business – 
financing 

service

Financial 
services 

business – 
factoring 

service Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from other sources 57 – 57
Interest revenue – financing and factoring services 39 54 93

Segment revenue 96 54 150

Segment results (7,844) (2,283) (10,127)

Unallocated interest revenue and other income 4,992
Net exchange gain 3,583
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss (1,564)
Central administration costs (25,064)
Finance costs (1,511)
Share of loss of associates (22,694)

Loss before taxation (52,385)

Segment results represent the profit/(loss) earned by each segment, without allocation of fair value loss on 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, central administration costs, interest revenue and other 
income (primarily certain interest income from bank deposits), net exchange (loss)/gain, finance costs and 
share of profit/(loss) of associates. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource 
allocation and performance assessment.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities

An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segments is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Property
technology

service

Financial 
services 

business –
operating

lease

Financial
services

business –
financing 

and finance 
lease

Financial
services

business –
factoring Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
 Segment assets 6,726 39,441 57,380 1,158 104,705

 Interests in associates 21,940
 Loan to an associate 1,470
 Unallocated assets 164,761

Total assets 292,876

Liabilities
 Segment liabilities 3,153 – 109,881 – 113,034

 Unallocated liabilities (43,212)

 Total liabilities 69,822
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Financial 
services 

business – 
financing 

service

Financial 
services 

business – 
factoring 

service Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
 Segment assets 2,292 668 2,960

 Interests in associates 52,132
 Loan to an associate 1,470
 Unallocated assets 223,930

Total assets 280,492

Liabilities
 Segment liabilities 1,826 687 2,513

 Unallocated liabilities 44,252

 Total liabilities 46,765

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the 
CODM monitors the tangible and financial assets attributable to each segment. All assets are allocated 
to reportable segments other than interests in associates, loan to an associate, part of short term bank 
deposits, bank balances and cash, and certain corporate assets for central administrative uses. All 
liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than taxation, redeemable convertible preference 
shares and certain corporate liabilities incurred for central administrative purpose.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Other segment information

An analysis of the Group’s other amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment 
assets by reportable segments is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Property 
technology 

service

Financial 
services 

business –
operating

lease

Financial 
services 

business – 
financing and
finance lease

Financial 
services 

business – 
factoring Unallocated Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Expenditure for reportable 
 segment non-current assets 781 38,438 7,574 – 17 46,810
Depreciation of property, plant 
 and equipment 53 1,825 51 37 16 1,982
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 703 – 118 392 4,439 5,652

For the year ended 31 March 2020
Financial 
services 

business – 
financing 

service

Financial 
services 

business – 
factoring

service Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Expenditure for reportable segment
 non-current assets 452 – 22 474
Depreciation of property, plant 
 and equipment 1 75 122 198
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 128 323 4,069 4,520

Geographical information

Revenue reported above represents income generated from external customers located in the PRC of 
HK$24,897,000 (2020: HK$111,000), income generated from external customers located outside the PRC 
of HK$334,000 (2020: HK$39,000).

As at 31 March 2021, non-current assets other than financial instruments and interests in associates of 
HK$61,034,000 (2020: HK$1,056,000) and HK$4,846,000 (2020: HK$9,282,000) were located in the PRC 
and Hong Kong, respectively.

Information about major customers

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A in the property technology service segment 6,470 –
Customer B in the property technology service segment 4,344 –
Customer C in the financing and factoring service segment – 111
Customer D in the financing service segment – 39
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7. REVENUE
The Group’s revenue represents the net invoiced value of services rendered. An analysis of the Group’s 
revenue is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers
Property technology service 15,625 –

Revenue from other sources
Finance lease income 179 –
Operating lease income 7,143 –
Income from financing service 66 57

23,013 57

Interest revenue – finance lease 1,685 –

Interest revenue – financing and factoring services
Interest income from financing service 319 39
Interest income from factoring service 214 54

533 93

25,231 150

During the year, HK$4,820,000 of variable consideration from property technology services is recognised 
when it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal will not occur.

Services to customers are normally made with credit terms of 60 days.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

Segments

Property 
technology 

service
2021 
Total

HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 March 2021
Geographical markets
The PRC 15,625 15,625

Timing of revenue recognition
Over time 15,625 15,625
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8. OTHER INCOME
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest revenue – bank interest income
Bank interest income 2,313 4,975

Other income
Gain on disposal of equipment – 223
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 1,331 –
Gain on bargain purchase 53 –
Government subsidies (Note) 714 –
Exchange gain, net – 3,583
Sundry income 188 16

2,286 3,822

4,599 8,797

Note: It represents subsidies received by the Group from the Hong Kong Government under the Employment Support 
Scheme.

9. FINANCE COSTS
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Imputed interest on redeemable convertible preference shares 1,265 1,100
Lease interests 403 411

1,668 1,511
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10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Salaries, allowances and other benefits 23,276 11,005
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 598 473
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 609 582

Total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) 24,483 12,060

Auditor’s remuneration
– Audit service 900 780
– Non-audit services 240 208

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,982 198
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 5,652 4,520
Amortization of intangible assets 303 –
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment – 6
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 182 (223)
Net exchange loss/(gain) 2,887 (3,583)
Expenses relating to short-term leases and leases 
 of low-value assets 896 638
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss on advances 
 provided to customers (3,100) 6,753
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss 455 1,564
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Directors’ remuneration for executive directors comprises payments by the Group to directors of the 
Company in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries. Directors’ 
remuneration for independent non-executive directors comprises payments by the Group to directors of the 
Company for their services as directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions

Discretionary 
bonus

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
expenses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
 Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles – 1,616 – – – 1,616
 Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David 
  (appointed on 7 April 2021) – – – – – –
 Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee – 1,240 18 – 304 1,562

– 2,856 18 – 304 3,178

Independent non-executive directors
 Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 240 – – – – 240
 Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP 240 – – – – 240
 Mr. Yeh Shing Hang
  (appointed on 16 September 2019) 240 – – – – 240

720 – – – – 720

Total 720 2,856 18 – 304 3,898



Goldbond Group Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2020/2192

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions

Discretionary 
bonus

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
expenses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
 Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles – 1,656 – – – 1,656
 Mr. Ding Chung Keung, Vincent 
  (resigned on 1 May 2019) – 78 – – – 78
 Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee – 1,200 18 – 291 1,509

– 2,934 18 – 291 3,243

Independent non-executive directors
 Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 240 – – – – 240
 Mr. Ma Ho Fai GBS JP 240 – – – – 240
 Mr. Yeh Shing Hang
  (appointed on 16 September 2019) 130 – – – – 130
 Mr. Ng Chi Keung MH

  (resigned on 20 June 2019) 53 – – – – 53

663 – – – – 663

Total 663 2,934 18 – 291 3,906

Notes:

(a) Mr. Wong Ming Bun, David has been appointed as an executive director of the Company with effect from 7 April 
2021. Emolument of HK$2,122,000 during the year ended 31 March 2021(2020: HK$1,958,000) was paid for his 
role of employee.

(b) Mr. Yeh Shing Hang Kevin Arthur has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company 
with effect from 16 September 2019.

(c) The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the operating results and the individual’s performance in 
each year

(d) No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

During the year, no retirement benefits, payments or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ 
services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor there were any such amounts 
payable (2020: nil). No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties for making available 
director’s services (2020: nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, 
their controlled body corporate and connected entities (2020: nil).
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
Save as disclosed in Note 43, no director of the Company had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in 
any significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the 
Company was or is a party that subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2020: nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive officer of the Company waived or 
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, shares options were granted to certain directors of the Company, in respect of their 
services to the Group under the share option scheme of the Company. Details of the share option scheme 
are set out in Note 40.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office during the year (2020: Nil). No directors waived or agreed 
to waive any remuneration during the year (2020: Nil).

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included 2 (2020: 2) directors, details of 
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 3 
(2020: 3) highest paid individual are set out below:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 4,080 3,141
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 54 42
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 304 291
Discretionary bonus 400 –

4,838 3,474

The number of the non-director highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following band 
is as follows:

Number of individuals
2021 2020

Nil – HK$1,000,000 – 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 –
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no emoluments was paid or payable to the five 
highest paid individuals (including Directors and other employees) as an inducement to join the Group 
or as a compensation for loss of office. No five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year (2020: Nil).
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13. INCOME TAX CREDITS/(EXPENSES)
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

The charge comprises:

Current tax
 Enterprise Income Tax in the PRC
 – Provision for the current year (401) (240)
 – Over-provision in prior year – 188
Deferred tax assets (note 34) 2,706 –

2,305 (52)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the 
Group’s operation in Hong Kong had no assessable income during both years.

Pursuant to the approval of the tax bureau, in accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC 
(中華人民共和國企業所得稅法), three subsidiaries are subject to the tax rate of 20% on 25% of assessable 
profit, which assessable profits under RMB1,000,000, for Small Low-Profit Enterprises. Other subsidiaries 
located in the PRC are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a rate of 25% (2020: 25%) on their 
assessable profits.

The reconciliation between income tax expense and loss before tax is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before taxation (66,062) (52,385)

Tax at the domestic income tax rate in the PRC of 25% 
 (2020: 25%) 16,515 13,096
Lower tax rate for specific province or enacted by local authority 51 –
Tax effect of share of loss of associates (7,760) 5,673
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes 2,654 994
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes (8,401) (7,054)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (3,090) (1,654)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised 29 –
Effect of tax exemption and tax concessions granted to certain 
 subsidiaries in the PRC 2,307 –
Over-provision in prior year – 188
Others – 38

Income tax credits/(expense) 2,305 (52)

14. DIVIDEND
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).
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15. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company was based 
on the following data:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss
 Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share
  (Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company) (60,043) (52,437)

Number of shares (thousand):
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
  of basic and diluted loss per share 2,761,913 2,761,913

Note: The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 does not assume the 
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options because the exercise price of those share options was 
higher than the average market price of shares for both years.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture, 

fixtures
Motor 

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2019 8,289 – 8,289
Additions 474 – 474
Disposals (1,098) – (1,098)
Written off (105) – (105)
Exchange realignment (473) – (473)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 7,087 – 7,087
Additions 819 45,991 46,810
Acquisition of a subsidiary 21 – 21
Disposals – (3,274) (3,274)
Exchange realignment 311 2,350 2,661

At 31 March 2021 8,238 45,067 53,305

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2019 7,837 – 7,837
Charge for the year 198 – 198
Disposals (1,098) – (1,098)
Written off (99) – (99)
Exchange realignment (336) – (336)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 6,502 – 6,502
Charge for the year 109 1,873 1,982
Disposals – (138) (138)
Exchange realignment 304 89 393

At 31 March 2021 6,915 1,824 8,739

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 1,323 43,243 44,566

At 31 March 2020 585 – 585

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis at the rates of 
20% to 331/3% per annum.
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17. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Disclosures of lease-related items:
Right-of-use assets
 – Land and buildings 10,135 9,753

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, 
 of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows:

 – Within 1 year 6,435 5,199
 – Between 2 and 5 years 4,479 5,134

10,914 10,333

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
 – Land and buildings 5,652 4,520

Lease interests 403 411

Additions of right-of-use assets 6,060 14,060

Expenses related to short-term leases 861 635

Expenses related to leases of low-value assets 
 that are not short-term leases 35 3

Total cash outflow for leases 5,997 4,784

Lease agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an 
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not 
impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Car license

HK$’000

Cost
At the beginning of the year –
Acquisition of a subsidiary 2,451
Exchange realignment 175

At the end of the year 2,626

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At the beginning of the year –
Charge for the year 303
Exchange realignment 14

At the end of the year 317

Carrying amount
At the end of the year 2,309

19. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of investments in associates
 – Listed in Hong Kong 316,939 314,952
 – Unlisted 23,030 23,030
Share of post-acquisition losses and other comprehensive 
 expenses, net of dividends received (318,029) (285,850)

21,940 52,132

Loan to an associate 1,470 1,470
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19. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
Particulars of the associates as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Particulars of issued and 
paid up capital

Effective
 ownership 

interest indirectly 
held by the Group

Proportion of 
voting power held Principal activity

2021 2020

China Rongzhong Financial 
 Holdings Company Limited
 (“China Rongzhong”)

Cayman Islands/
 the PRC

HK$4,125,090 HK$4,125,090 34.86% 34.86% Provision for 
financing Ieasing 

services

Allied Golden Capital Fund I
 (Cayman) Company Limited

Cayman Islands/
 Hong Kong

US$13,582,000 US$13,582,000 19.90% 19.90% Investment holding

Goldbond Capital 
 Investments Limited

Cayman Islands/
 Hong Kong

US$400,000 US$400,000 49% 49% Provision for fund
management

 service

Note: Based on the legal form and terms of the contractual arrangements, the interests in China Rongzhong, Allied 
Golden Capital Fund I (Cayman) Company Limited and Goldbond Capital Investments Limited are classified as 
associates as the Group has significant influence over these associates.

As at 31 March 2021, market value of the Group’s listed investments in China Rongzhong based on 
quoted market price was approximately HK$23,729,000 (2020: HK$38,828,000).
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19. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information of the material associates

The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the associates’ financial 
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

These associates are accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.

China Rongzhong

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 751,620 791,100
Non-current assets 95,347 123,984
Current liabilities (740,832) (392,901)
Non-current liabilities (216,125) (506,901)

(109,990) 15,282

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

Revenue 15,821 27,484

Loss for the year (121,383) (65,726)

Other comprehensive expense for the year (4,372) (3,696)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (125,755) (69,422)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in 
China Rongzhong recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net (liabilities)/assets of China Rongzhong (109,990) 15,282
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in China Rongzhong 34.86% 34.86%
Goodwill 27,230 25,414
Share of loss not recognised 10,728 –
Share of other comprehensive expense not recognised 386 –

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in China Rongzhong – 30,742
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19. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information of the material associates (continued)

China Rongzhong (continued)

During the year, the share of loss of associates and other comprehensive expense of associates by the 
Group was HK$31,039,000 and HK$1,138,000 (2020: HK$22,694,000 and HK$1,288,000), respectively. Of 
the share of loss of associates of HK$31,039,000 (2020: HK$22,694,000), HK$31,588,000 (2020: share of 
loss of China Rongzhong of HK$22,913,000) represented the share of loss of China Rongzhong.

Share of loss and other comprehensive expense of China Rongzhong of HK$10,728,000 (2020: nil) and 
HK$386,000 (2020: nil) respectively was not recognised by the Group as such loss exceeds its interest in 
the associate. China Rongzhong suffered from a high level of impairment allowances on loan receivable 
and lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements, amount for 
HK$1,058,000 and HK$96,974,000(2020: HK$1,505,000 and HK$46,713,000), respectively, which resulted 
in significant loss for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying amount 
of the Group’s interest in China Rongzhong was nil (2020: HK$30,742,000).

In 2020, the management of the Group carried out impairment review on the carrying amount of the 
investment in China Rongzhong as at 31 March 2020 by comparing the recoverable amount with the 
carrying amount of the investment in China Rongzhong. Fair value less costs of disposal, measured using 
the quoted price for China Rongzhong listed shares on Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited as 
at 31 March 2020, was approximately HK$38,828,000. As at 31 March 2020, the recoverable amount of 
China Rongzhong was higher than its carrying amount. No impairment had been recognised.

Aggregate financial information of the associates that are not individually material

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

The Group’s share of profit 549 219

The Group’s share of total comprehensive income 549 219

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interests 
 in these associates 21,940 21,390

As at 31 March 2021, the loan to an associate of HK$1,470,000 (2020: HK$1,470,000) was unsecured, 
non-interest bearing and repayable within one year.
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20. CLUB DEBENTURES
Club debentures Total

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2019 40,463 40,463
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (1,564) (1,564)
Exchange realignment (1,799) (1,799)

As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 37,100 37,100
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (455) (455)
Exchange realignment 2,650 2,650

As at 31 March 2021 39,295 39,295

The above club debentures have indefinite useful lives. The directors of the Company are of the opinion 
that the club debentures are worth at least their carrying amounts by reference to recent market prices for 
similar debentures.

21. INVENTORY
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 152 –
Work in progress 1,264 –
Finished goods 1,348 –

2,764 –
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES
Lease payments Present value of lease payments

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within on year 43,655 – 40,544 –
In more that one year but not more 
 than five years 4,044 – 3,713 –

47,699 – 44,257 –
Less: Unearned finance income (3,442) –

Present value of minimum lease 
 payment 44,257 –
Less: Impairment allowance (7,726) – (7,726) –

36,531 – 36,531 –

Analysed for:
 Current portion 32,818 –
 Non-current portion 3,713 –

36,531 –

The Group entered into finance lease arrangements for certain equipment and vehicles. The term range 
of finance leases entered into is from 1 to 3 years. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no 
arrangements have been entered into for variable lease payments.

Finance lease receivables are mainly secured by leased assets and lessees’ deposits where applicable. 
Lessees’ deposits are calculated and collected based on a certain percentage of the entire value of the 
lease contract. The deposits are returned to the lessees in full by end of lease period according to the 
terms of the lease contracts. The balance of the customers’ deposits can also be applied and used to 
settle any outstanding lease payments for the corresponding lease contract.
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
The effective interest rates of the above finance leases range mainly from 6.0% to 19.0% per annum as at 
31 March 2021.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Credit quality analysis
 Neither past due nor credit-impaired 20,055 –
 Past due but not credit-impaired 10,109 –
 Credit-impaired 14,093 –

44,257 –
 Less: impairment allowance (7,726) –

36,531 –

Movement in impairment allowance:
 Balance at beginning of the year – –
 Acquisition of a subsidiary 7,211 –
 Exchange realignment 515 –

 Balance at end of the year 7,726 –

23. ADVANCES PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Advances provided to customers 352,565 335,421
Less: Impairment allowances (329,819) (322,025)

22,746 13,396
Less: Amounts shown under current assets (22,355) (13,396)

Amount due after one year 391 –

As at 31 March 2021, the advances provided to customers, which bore fixed interest at a rate of not 
more than 23.0% (2020: 23.0%) per annum, were repayable according to terms stipulated in the loan 
agreements and factoring facility agreements. Included in the balances, an aggregate amount of 
approximately HK$6,353,000 was secured by 38,503,380 ordinary shares of China Rongzhong (2020: 
approximately HK$10,396,000 was secured by 38,503,380 ordinary shares of China Rongzhong).

Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group uses internal credit assessment process to assess the 
potential borrower’s credit quality and defines the credit limits granted to the borrowers. The credit limits 
attributed to the borrowers are reviewed by the management regularly. Management considered that the 
receivables which were neither past due nor impaired are customers of good credit quality.
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23. ADVANCES PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)
The following is a credit quality analysis of advances provided to customers:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 9,250 3,000
Past due but not impaired 7,143 –
Impaired 336,172 332,421

Subtotal 352,565 335,421
Less: Impairment losses (329,819) (322,025)

22,746 13,396

Movement in the impairment allowances

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of the year 322,025 324,420
Impairment losses recognised 4,043 6,753
Reversal of impairment losses (7,143) –
Written off (3,143) –
Exchange realignment 14,037 (9,148)

Balance at end of the year 329,819 322,025
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24. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts receivable
 – third parties 1,290 62,421
 – non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 2,268 –

3,558 62,421
Less: Impairment loss recognised on accounts receivable – (61,254)

3,558 1,167

The Group normally allows credit period for trade customers of 60 days (2020: 60 days). The accounts 
receivable presented based on the invoice date, which approximated the respective revenue recognition 
dates, at the end of the reporting period was aged over 60 days. At the end of the reporting period, the 
accounts receivable were all past due.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defines its credit limit. Credit sales are made to customers with appropriate credit history. Credit limits 
attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.

The aging analysis of accounts receivables at the end of the reporting period, based on the date the 
Group is entitled to receive, and net of allowance, is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 3 months 3,337 –
More than 3 months but within 6 months 66 –
More than 6 months but within 1 year 15 –
More than 1 year 140 1,167

3,558 1,167

Reconciliation of impairment loss for trade receivables:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 61,254 64,103
Disposal of a subsidiary (65,629) –
Exchange realignment 4,375 (2,849)

Balance at the end of the year – 61,254
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24. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide for expected credit losses using the 
lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade 
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The 
weighted average expected credit losses also incorporate forward looking information.

Current
Within 30 days 

past due
31-60 days 

past due
61-120 days 

past due
Over 120 days 

past due Total

At 31 March 2021
Weighted average expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$’000) 970 821 12 1,615 140 3,558
Loss allowance (HK$’000) – – – – – –

At 31 March 2020
Weighted average expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 98%
Receivable amount (HK$’000) – – – – 62,421 62,421
Loss allowance (HK$’000) – – – – 61,254 61,254

25. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Disclosures of revenue-related items:

As at
31 March

As at
31 March

As at
1 April

2021 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Contract assets – construction
 – third parties 7,135 – –
 – non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary 2,504 – –

9,639 – –

Contract liabilities – construction 51 – –

Contract receivables 
 (included in accounts receivable) 2,800 – –
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied at end of year and expected to be 
recognised as revenue in:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

– 2022 51 –

51 –

Significant changes in contract assets and contract liabilities during the year

2021 2021
Contract 

assets
Contract 
liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase due to operations in the year 16,027 2,387
Transfer of contract assets to receivables (6,388) –
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue – (2,336)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for products or services that 
the Group has transferred to a customer.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer products or services to a customer for 
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

In respect of construction contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period, retentions receivable 
expected to be recovered after more than twelve months included in contract assets is approximately 
HK$116,000 (2020: Nil).

26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayment, deposits 10,614 490
Other receivables 1,286 1,160

11,900 1,650
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27. STRUCTURED DEPOSITS
As at 31 March 2021, the Group has principal-protected floating income structured deposits of 
HK$10,714,000 (2020: HK$nil). As the directors of the Company evaluate the performance of the 
structured deposits on a fair value basis, the Group designated the structured deposits as financial asset 
at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition.

28. SHORT TERM BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
All bank deposits of the Group carry interest at prevailing market rates ranging from 0% to 1.8% (2020: 0% 
to 4.0%) per annum respectively.

Included in short term bank deposits and bank balances and cash are the following amounts denominated 
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the group entities:

Currency 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong dollars HKD 2,125 8,533
United States dollars USD 26,179 85,552

29. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts payable 2,391 –

2,391 –

An aged analysis of accounts payable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is 
as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days 317 –
31 to 90 days 453 –
Over 90 days 1,621 –

2,391 –

The account payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.



Goldbond Group Holdings Limited • Annual Report 2020/21110

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
Other payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and have an average payment term of one month.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other payables 28,147 24,826

28,147 24,826

31. LEASE LIABILITIES
The Group’s lease payables are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.

Lease 
payments

Present value of
lease payments

Lease 
payments

Present value of
 lease payments

2021 2021 2020 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 6,435 6,127 5,199 4,886
Between 2 and 5 years 4,479 4,214 5,134 5,014

10,914 10,341 10,333 9,900
Less: future finance charges (573) (433)

Present value of lease obligations 10,341 9,900

Less: Amount due for 
 settlement within 12 months 
 (shown in current liabilities) (6,127) (4,886)

Amount due for settlement 
 after 12 months 4,214 5,014

At 31 March 2021, the average effective borrowing rate was 4.17%.

32. SHARE CAPITAL
Number 

of shares Amount
’000 HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:
 At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 2,761,913 829,209

None of the Company’s subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities during both years.
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33. REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
As at 31 March 2021, 68,400,000 (2020: 68,400,000) preference shares were in issue.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the preference shares, the preference shares may be redeemed 
by the holders of the preference shares at any time subsequent to 50 years after the date of issue on 18 
September 2001 at a redemption value of HK$10.00 per preference share. The preference shares carry no 
right to dividend distributions to the holders. The preference shares were convertible until 17 September 
2004 and the conversion rights attached to the preference shares lapsed with no conversion then.

The liability component of the preference shares is carried at amortised cost based on an effective interest 
rate of 13.97% per annum.

34. DEFERRED TAX ASSET
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and 
the movements during the year is as follows:

Tax loss
Impairment 

allowance Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 
 and 1 April 2020 – – –
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated profit 
 or loss during the year 2,706 – 2,706
Acquisition of a subsidiary – 1,803 1,803
Exchange realignment 129 128 257

As at 31 March 2021 2,835 1,931 4,766

At 31 March 2021, the Group had estimated unused tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$218,586,000 
(2020: HK$218,570,000), certain of which subject to agreement of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue 
Department, the unused tax losses are available indefinitely for offset against future profits of 
the companies in which the losses arose. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had deductible temporary differences in respect of certain impairment 
allowances on advances provided to customers of HK$45,514,000 (2020: HK$52,079,000). No deferred 
tax asset has been recognised as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 in relation to such deductible 
temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.
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35. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years 
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the consolidated financial 
statements.

(b) Company

The changes in the reserves of the Company during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are 
as follows:

Employee 
share-based 

compensation 
reserve

General 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2019 38,234 6,000 (18,796) (558,670) (533,232)

Loss for the year – – – (52,026) (52,026)
Exchange differences arising on translation – – (12,944) – (12,944)

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – (12,944) (52,026) (64,970)
Expiry of share options (5,080) – – 5,080 –
Lapse of share options (16,620) – – 16,620 –
Recognition of equity-settled share-based 
 payment expenses 582 – – – 582

Sub-total (21,118) – – 21,700 582

At 31 March 2020 17,116 6,000 (31,740) (588,996) (597,620)

As at 1 April 2020 17,116 6,000 (31,740) (588,996) (597,620)

Loss for the year – – – (63,532) (63,532)
Exchange differences arising on translation – – 14,173 – 14,173

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for 
 the year – – 14,173 (63,532) 49,359
Expiry of share options (1,523) – – 1,523 –
Lapsed of share options (5,664) – – 5,664 –
Recognition of equity-settled share-based 
 payment expenses 609 – – – 609

Sub-total (6,578) – – 7,187 609

At 31 March 2021 10,538 6,000 (17,567) (645,341) (646,370)
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36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the debt and 
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising 
issued share capital and reserves less accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, 
the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment 
of dividends, repurchase of shares and new share issues.

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:
 Financial assets at amortised cost 
  (including cash and cash equivalents) 137,321 179,656
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 50,009 37,100

Financial liabilities:
 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 44,628 22,911

Fair value

The fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are determined based on generally 
accepted pricing models as disclosed in Notes 19 and 22.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The risks associated with these financial instruments included market risk (price risk, currency risk 
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set 
our below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments in club debentures which are classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The management manages this exposure by 
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. No sensitivity analysis is prepared for the price 
risk as the directors of the Company considered that the Group is not subject to significant amount of risk 
for both years.

Currency risk

The Company and several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and monetary liabilities, thus exposing the Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities, including short term bank deposits, bank balances and redeemable convertible preference 
shares at the reporting date were as follows:

Assets Liabilities
Currency 2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong dollar HKD 26,185 24,522 15,857 9,634
United States dollar USD 49,065 85,617 – –

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy to eliminate the currency exposures. 
However, management monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging 
significant foreign currency exposures should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in USD and HKD.



Annual Report 2020/21 • Goldbond Group Holdings Limited 115

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in RMB, the functional 
currency of respective group entities, against USD and HKD. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when 
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes 
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year 
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rate. The analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% weakening of 
USD and HKD against RMB and a positive number below indicates an increase in loss for the year. For a 
5% strengthening of USD and HKD against RMB, there would be an equal and opposite impact on loss for 
the year.

USD impact HKD impact
2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase in loss for the year 1,093 3,211 1,321 558

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent currency risk as the 
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to 
advances provided to customers as set out in Note 23. Management considers that the risk is insignificant 
as advances provided to customers are measured at amortised cost. Cash flow interest rate risk is the 
risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuation in the prevailing levels of market interest 
rates on the cash flow risk. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce or 
create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. Limits are set on the level of mismatch of 
interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored monthly.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank deposits and bank 
balances (see Note 37 for details of these financial instruments respectively). Management monitors the 
related interest exposure closely to ensure the interest rate risks are maintained at an acceptable level.

Sensitivity analysis for cash flow interest rate risk

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to variable-rate bank deposits 
and bank balances. The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of asset and liability of variable-rate 
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points 
(2020: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis for cash flow interest rate risk (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables 
were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would decrease/increase by 
HK$129,000 (2020: HK$81,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its 
variable-rate bank deposits and bank balances.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as 
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period by comparing 
the risk of a default occurring as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial 
recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially 
the following information is used:

– internal credit rating;

– actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

– actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower;

– significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower, including changes 
in the payment status of borrowers.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts of financial 
assets.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any 
is held).

In order to minimise the credit risk, credit limits and credit terms granted to customers are approved by 
delegated officers and follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management of 
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual receivable at the end of the reporting period 
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. Any further extension of 
credit beyond the approved limit had to be approved by the directors of the Company. In this regard, the 
directors of the Company consider that the credit risk of the Group is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds (i.e. short term bank deposits, bank balances and cash) is limited because 
the majority of the counterparties are banks with good reputations.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk on loan to an associate, accounts receivable, advances provided 
to customers and finance lease receivables (the “Receivables”) as at 31 March 2021 included five major 
counterparties accounting for 46% (2020: 100%) of the Receivables. The Group has closely monitored 
the recoverability of the advances to these counterparties and taken effective measures to ensure timely 
collection of outstanding balances.

The Group is exposed to the concentration of geographical risk on revenue which is generated from 
customers located in the PRC. The Group has closely monitored the business performance and diversified 
its customer.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for finance 
lease receivables as at 31 March 2021. The average expected loss rate is derived from the gross carrying 
amount and loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 after taken into accounting of the deposits received from 
customers, historical default rate and forward looking information when determined the loss allowance. 
The assessment is performed debtors by debtors.

In the event that an installment repayment of a finance lease receivable is past due, the entire outstanding 
balance of the finance lease receivable is classified as past due.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Average 
expected 
loss rate

Gross 
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finance lease receivables
Credit-impaired 54.82% 14,093 7,726

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintain a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and the earliest date on which the 
Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity tables

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

On demand 
or within 

1 year 1 to 2 years Over 2 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
31 March 

2021
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2021
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Accounts payable – 2,391 – – 2,391 2,391
Other payables – 9,498 – – 9,498 9,498
Security deposits – 17,002 – – 17,002 17,002
Lease liabilities 4.17 6,435 1,908 2,571 10,914 10,341
Redeemable convertible preference shares 13.97 – – 684,000 684,000 9,704

35,326 1,908 686,571 723,805 48,936

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate

On demand 
or within 

1 year 1 to 2 years Over 2 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
31 March 

2020
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2020
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Other payables – 3,339 – – 3,339 3,339
Security deposits – 1,233 – – 1,233 1,233
Lease liabilities 4.17 5,199 4,742 392 10,333 9,900
Redeemable convertible preference shares 13.97 – – 684,000 684,000 8,439

9,771 4,742 684,392 698,905 22,911
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39. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair 
value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categories into three levels the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group 
can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date 
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2021 and 2020:

Fair value measurement using: Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2021

Description HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements:
Financial assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss
 Structured deposits – 10,714 – 10,714
 Club debentures – 39,295 – 39,295

– 50,009 – 50,009

Fair value measurement using: Total
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2020

Description HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements:
Financial assets at fair value through
 profit or loss
 Club debentures – 37,100 – 37,100

– 37,100 – 37,100
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39. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair 

value measurements:

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting 
purposes. The Directors determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value 
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-observable data to the 
extent it is available. Where level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified 
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely with the qualified external valuers to 
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model and to understand the cause 
of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements

Description Valuation technique Inputs
Fair value 

2021 
HK$’000

Structured deposits Income approach Risk free rate
Credit Spread 
Discount Rate

10,714

Club debentures Market approach Quoted prices 39,295

Description Valuation technique Inputs
Fair value 

2020 
HK$’000

Club debentures Market approach Quoted prices 37,100

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers of fair value measurements 
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and 
financial liabilities.
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40. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 18 September 2002 (the “2002 Share Option 
Scheme”) with amendments made on 29 August 2003 to give clarity to it. Upon a new share option 
scheme of the Company came into effect on 31 August 2012 (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”), the 2002 
Share Option Scheme was terminated and no further share options will be granted thereunder, but the 
provisions of the 2002 Share Option Scheme will remain in full force and effective to the extent necessary 
to give effect to the exercise of the share options (to the extent not already exercised) granted prior to its 
termination.

The Company operates the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2012 Share Option Scheme for the 
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants, including the Company’s directors and 
other eligible participants of the Group. Key terms of the 2012 Share Option Scheme are as follows:

The maximum number of shares in the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding 
options granted but yet to be exercised under the 2002 Share Option Scheme, the 2012 Share Option 
Scheme and any other share option scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 30 percent of the issued share 
capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number of shares in the Company that may be 
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and any other 
share option scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10 percent of the issued share capital of the Company 
as at the date of approval of the 2012 Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted 
to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1 percent of the issued share capital of the 
Company for the time being.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted no later than 21 days from the date of offer with 
HK$1 as consideration being payable by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is 
determinable by the directors.

The subscription price of a share option is determined by the directors, but may not be less than the 
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet 
for trades in one or more board lots of shares on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the 
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the share.
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40. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(a) Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Number of 
share options

Date of 
grant Vesting period Exercise period

Exercise price 
HK$ per 

share

Share options granted to directors 26,000,000 14/10/2014 2 years from the 
 date of grant

14/10/2016 to 13/10/2024 0.360

35,000,000 8/12/2016 2 years from the 
 date of grant

8/12/2018 to 7/12/2026 0.272

26,000,000 18/4/2019 3 years from the 
 date of grant

18/04/2022 to 17/4/2029 0.230

Share options granted to employees 5,300,000 28/6/2013 2 years from the 
 date of grant

28/6/2015 to 27/6/2023 0.295

16,000,000 14/10/2014 2 years from the 
 date of grant

14/10/2016 to 13/10/2024 0.360

5,100,000 8/12/2016 2 years from the 
 date of grant

8/12/2018 to 7/12/2026 0.272

Share options granted to 
 an employee subsequently 
 acting as a director

26,000,000 18/4/2019 3 years from the 
 date of grant

18/04/2022 to 17/4/2029 0.230

139,400,000

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options 
expire. Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group.
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40. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2021 2020

Number of 
share options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
Number of 

share options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
HK$ HK$

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 198,100,000 0.318 303,200,000 0.372
Granted during the year – – 52,000,000 0.230
Expired during the year (46,200,000) 0.410 (26,000,000) 0.500
Lapsed during the year (12,500,000) 0.360 (131,100,000) 0.373

Outstanding at the end of the year 139,400,000 0.284 198,100,000 0.318

Exercisable at the end of the year 87,400,000 146,100,000

Movements of the share options held by the directors of the Company during the year ended 31 
March 2021 and 2020 are listed below in accordance with chapter 17 of the Listing Rules:

Date of grant 
of share options

Exercise period 
of share

Exercise 
price

Outstanding 
at 1 April 

2020
Granted during 

the year
Expired during 

the year
Lapsed during 

the year

Outstanding 
at 31 March 

2021
HK$

1/2/2011 01/02/2014 – 31/01/2021 0.410 43,100,000 – (43,100,000) – –
14/10/2014 14/10/2016 – 15/10/2024 0.360 26,000,000 – – – 26,000,000
8/12/2016 8/12/2018 – 7/12/2026 0.272 35,000,000 – – – 35,000,000
18/4/2019 18/04/2022 – 17/4/2029 0.230 26,000,000 – – – 26,000,000
18/4/2019 18/04/2022 – 17/4/2029 0.230 26,000,000 – – – 26,000,000
(for employee who was appointed as director 
 subsequent to the end of the reporting period)

156,100,000 – (43,100,000) – 113,000,000

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Weighted average 
 exercise price per share 0.318 – 0.410 – 0.284
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40. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b) Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows: (continued)

Date of grant 
of share options

Exercise period 
of share

Exercise 
price

Outstanding 
at 1 April 

2019
Granted during 

the year
Expired during 

the year
Lapsed during 

the year

Outstanding 
at 31 March 

2020
HK$

13/10/2009 13/10/2012 – 12/10/2019 0.500 52,000,000 – (26,000,000) (26,000,000) –
1/2/2011 01/02/2014 – 31/01/2021 0.410 69,100,000 – – (26,000,000) 43,100,000
28/6/2013 28/6/2015 – 27/6/2023 0.295 2,600,000 – – (2,600,000) –
14/10/2014 14/10/2016 – 15/10/2024 0.360 52,000,000 – – (26,000,000) 26,000,000
8/12/2016 8/12/2018 – 7/12/2026 0.272 60,000,000 – – (25,000,000) 35,000,000
18/4/2019 18/04/2022 – 17/4/2029 0.230 – 26,000,000 – – 26,000,000
18/4/2019 18/04/2022 – 17/4/2029 0.230 – 26,000,000 – – 26,000,000
(for employee who was appointed as director 
 subsequent to the end of the reporting period)

235,700,000 52,000,000 (26,000,000) (105,600,000) 156,100,000

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

Weighted average exercise 
 price per share 0.372 0.23 0.500 0.373 0.318

No share options were exercised and 12,500,000 share options (2020: 131,100,000 share options) 
were lapsed during the year ended 31 March 2021. The weighted average share price at the date 
of exercise for share options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2021 was HK$0.284 (2020: 
HK$0.318). The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 9.1 years (2020: 9.1 years) and the exercise price is HK$0.284 per share (2020: 
HK$0.318 per share).

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the 
fair value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured 
based on binomial lattice model. The contractual life of the option is used as an input into these models. 
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial lattice model.

Grant date 18 April 2019

Fair value at measurement dates (HK$) 0.035
Share price (HK$) 0.110
Exercise price (HK$) 0.230
Expected volatility (expressed as a weighted average volatility used in the modelling 
 under binomial lattice model) 41.73%
Option life 10 years
Expected tenor 10 years
Risk-free rate 1.65%



Annual Report 2020/21 • Goldbond Group Holdings Limited 125

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

40. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Fair value of share options and assumptions (continued)

The expected volatility is based on the historical weekly volatility of the Company’s share price over 
the previous 520 weeks, adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available 
information. The binomial lattice model has been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The 
variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the 
directors’ best estimate. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value 
estimate.

The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 18 April 2019, the date of the grant, was 
HK$0.110. The exercise price is HK$0.230. The estimated fair value of the share options granted on that 
date was HK$1,820,000.

The Group recognised total expenses of HK$609,000 (2020: HK$582,000) relating to share option 
payment transactions for the year ended 31 March 2021.

41. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees in Hong Kong under the jurisdiction of the 
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the 
Group and administered by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees 
are each required to make a contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income 
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income as specified in the rules. No forfeited contribution is available 
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees employed by the subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement 
benefit schemes operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute 
a certain percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only 
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make specified contributions.
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42. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 26 June 2020, the Group acquired 51% of the issued share capital of Optimus Financial Group 
Limited (“Optimus Group”) at a cash consideration of HK$41,800,000. Optimus Group was engaged 
in (i) financial leasing and provision of property and automobile finance lease services; and (ii) car 
trading, mainly in Shanghai and Jiangsu Province, the PRC.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Optimus Group acquired as at its date of 
acquisition is as follows:

Net assets acquired: HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 21
Intangible assets 2,451
Deferred tax assets 1,803
Finance lease receivables 23,990
Accounts receivable 518
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 30,663
Current tax assets 100
Structured deposits 35,644
Bank balances and cash 1,433
Security deposits (10,601)
Other payables and accruals (3,957)

82,065
Non-controlling interests (40,212)

41,853
Gain on bargain purchases (53)

Satisfied by:
 Cash 41,800

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
 Cash consideration paid (41,800)
 Cash and cash equivalents acquired (included structured deposits) 37,077

(4,723)
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42. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Disposal of a subsidiary

On 14 December 2020, the Group completed the disposal of the entire equity interest in Royal Sino 
Investment Limited (“Royal Sino”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary at a consideration of HK$1. 
A gain on disposal of approximately HK$1,331,000 was recognised during the year ended 31 March 
2021, be calculated as follows:

Net liabilities of Royal Sino at the date of disposal were as follows: HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 181
Other payables (279)

Net liabilities disposed of (98)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve 1,232
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 1,331

Total consideration 1

Net cash outflow arising on disposal
Cash consideration received 1
Cash and cash equivalents of the subsidiary disposal of (181)

(180)

(c) Change in liabilities arising from financing activities

The following table shows the Company’s changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 
during the year:

Lease liabilities

Total liabilities 
from financing 

activities
HK$ HK$

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2019 – –
Changes in cash flows (4,784) (4,784)
Non-cash changes
– recognition upon initial application of HKFRS 16 213 213
– new leases entered 14,060 14,060
– interest charged 411 411

As at 31 March 2020 9,900 9,900
Changes in cash flows (5,997) (5,997)
Non-cash changes
– new leases entered 6,060 6,060
– interest charged 403 403
– exchange realignment (25) (25)

10,341 10,341
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial 
statements, the Group had the following material transactions with related companies, of which certain 
directors are also Directors, during the year.

Key management personnel remuneration

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Short-term benefits 3,576 3,597
Post-employment benefits 18 18
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 304 291

3,898 3,906

The details of the remuneration paid to the key management personnel are set out in Note 11.

Transactions with related parties

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Imputed interest on redeemable convertible preference shares 
 held by Miss Jacqueline Wong (Note 1) 1,265 1,100
Rental expense paid to a related company with 
 common controlling shareholders (Note 2) 4,709 4,709
Rental expense paid to a non-controlling shareholder of 
 a subsidiary (Note 3) 952 –
Property technology service income generated from non-controlling 
 shareholders of a subsidiary (Note 3) 4,345 –

Notes:

1. Miss Jacqueline Wong, who is the daughter of Mr. Wong Yu Lung, Charles (“Mr. Wong”), became the beneficial 
owner of the redeemable convertible preference shares issued by the Company during the year.

2. Mr. Wong and his daughter Ms. Wong, Michelle Yatyee (“Ms. Michelle Wong”), both directors of the Company, 
were considered as materially interested in the transaction as the related company was held by trusts whereby 
Mr. Wong and Ms. Michelle Wong were trustee and eligible beneficiary respectively.

3. The transactions were conducted on bases mutually agreed by the respective parties, with reference to 
prevailing market rates or prices similar to those transacted with the Group’s third party customers/landlords.
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position 31 March 31 March

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
 Property, plant and equipment 30 22
 Right-of-use assets 4,809 9,248
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 6,358 17,748
 Club debentures 39,295 37,100

50,492 64,118

Current assets
 Amounts due from subsidiaries 103,032 40,591
 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 206 213
 Short term bank deposits
  – with original maturity within three months 44,726 146,855
  – with original maturity more than three months – 102
 Bank balances 1,636 1,890

149,600 189,651

Current liabilities
 Other payables and accrued charges 1,680 3,457
 Lease liabilities 4,590 4,407
 Amount due to a subsidiary 888 896

7,158 8,760

Net current assets 142,442 180,891

Total assets less current liabilities 192,934 245,009

Capital and reserves
 Share capital 829,209 829,209
 Reserves 646,370 (597,620)

Total equity 182,839 231,589

Non-current liability
 Lease liabilities 391 4,981
 Redeemable convertible preference shares 9,704 8,439

192,934 245,009

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 30 June 2021 and is signed on its behalf by:

Wong Yu Lung, Charles Wong, Michelle Yatyee
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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45. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Name

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation Issued and paid up capital

Percentage of equity 
interests attributable 

to the Company Principal activities
2021 2020 2021 2020

Directly held:
Perfect Honour Limited British Virgin

 Islands
US$1 US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held:
Jiangsu Goldbond Factoring Co. Ltd.#

 (江蘇金榜商業保理有限公司) (Note 1, 2)
the PRC RMB

50,000,000
RMB

50,000,000
100% 100% Provision of factoring 

 service

Yancheng Goldbond Supply Chain 
 Management Limited # (鹽城市金榜供應鏈
 管理有限公司) (Note 1, 2)

the PRC US$
8,800,000

US$
8,800,000

100% 100% Provision of financing 
 service

Nanjing Excellent Link Consultancy Company 
 Limited# (南京卓領信息諮詢有限公司) 
 (Note 1, 2)

the PRC HK$
7,000,000

HK$
7,000,000

100% 100% Provision of financing 
 service

Shanghai Nanlang Finance Lease Company 
 Limited# (上海南朗融資租賃有限公司)
 (Note 1, 2)

the PRC RMB
170,000,000

– 51% – Provision of financing 
 and finance lease 
 services

Huzhou Goldbond Automobile Lease Service 
 Company Limited# (湖州金寓宏汽車租賃服務
 有限公司) (Note 1, 2)

the PRC RMB
4,400,000

RMB
1,000,000

100% 100% Provision of operating 
 lease service

Shenzhen Nengxiaotong Smart Technology 
 Company Limited (“Shenzhen Nengxiaotong 
 Smart”) (深圳市能效通智慧科技有限公司) 
 (Note 1, 2, 3)

the PRC RMB
1,000,000

– 40% – Provision of property
 technology service

# English translated name is for identification purpose only

Note: (1) These companies are wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC.
 (2) The company is a limited company established in the PRC.
 (3) The company is considered to be direct subsidiary of the Company because the Company has 

established control over these subsidiary.
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45. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 
affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the 
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

The following table shows information of the subsidiary that has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to 
the Group. The summarised financial information represents amounts before inter-company eliminations.

Name

Shenzhen 
Nengxiaotong 

Smart
2021

Optimus 
Group 

2021

Principal place of business/country of incorporation 
 % of ownership interests/voting rights held by NCI

The PRC
60%

Cayman
49%

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March
Non-current assets 8,484 15,784
Current assets 32,298 83,198
Current liabilities (42,500) (12,412)
Non-current liabilities (3,585) –

Net (liabilities)/assets (5,303) 86,570

Accumulated NCI (3,182) 42,420

Year ended 31 December:
Revenue 15,610 702
Loss for the year (4,927) (1,547)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income (3,182) 2,208
Loss allocated to NCI (2,956) (758)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 17,628 (25,264)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities (719) 19,378
Net cash outflow from financing activities (759) –

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 16,150 (5,886)
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46. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD
Potential Transaction

On 24 May 2021, the Company entered into the non-legally binding letter of Intent (the “Letter of Intent”) 
with Wah Link Investments Limited (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the Company intends to acquire 
from the Vendor, and the Vendor intends to sell, certain properties free from encumbrance (the “Potential 
Transaction”). The properties comprise certain commercial retail properties and residential properties in 
Hong Kong and are currently leased out to third parties.

Further details in relation to the Letter of Intent are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 24 
May 2021.

As at the date of this announcement, no definitive legally-binding agreement in relation to the Potential 
Transaction has been entered into by the Group.

Internal Control Review

The internal control review (“Internal Control Review”) mentioned in the Company’s announcement dated 
22 March 2021 to identify and rectify the internal control deficiencies was conducted by an independent 
internal control consultant (the “the IC Consultant”). As disclosed in the announcement of the Company 
dated 7 June 2021, the third phase (and also the final phase) of the Internal Control Review has been 
completed.

Details of the findings of the Internal Control Review, recommendations made by the IC Consultant 
and remedial actions taken by the Group as recommended by the IC Consultant are set out in the 
announcement of the Company dated 9 June 2021.

Court judgement in relation to outstanding advance provided to customer

In May 2021, a Chinese Court has awarded the Group a judgement in its favor on an outstanding advance 
provided to a customer demanding the debtor to repay the Group a total amount of RMB100 million 
(equivalent to approximate HK$119 million) plus interest and charges.

47. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 
30 June 2021.
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